Role of the VEGFC/VEGFR3 pathway, beyond developmental lymphangiogenesis

Harri Nurmi

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

Translational Cancer Biology Research Program Research Program Unit Faculty of Medicine and Wihuri Research Institute and Doctoral Program in Biomedicine University of Helsinki Finland



To be publicly discussed, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, in Haartman Institute, Lecture Hall 1, Haartmaninkatu 3, Helsinki, on May 26, 2017, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2017

Supervisor:

Kari Alitalo MD PhD Research Professor of the Finnish Academy of Sciences Wihuri Research Institute Translational Cancer Biology Research Program University of Helsinki Finland

Reviewers:

Klaus Elenius, MD, PhD Professor Department of Medical Biochemistry and Genetics University of Turku Finland

and

Juha Partanen, PhD Professor Department of Biosciences, Division of Genetics University of Helsinki Finland

Opponent:

Natasha Harvey, PhD Associate Professor Head, Lymphatic Development Laboratory University of South Australia Australia

ISBN 978-951-51-3158-4 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-3159-1 (PDF) ISSN 2342-3161 (paperback) ISSN 2342-317X (PDF) Unigrafia Helsinki 2017

To Eeva

It ain't about how hard you hit. It's about how hard you can get hit and keep moving forward –Rocky Balboa

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	5
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
ABSTRACT	7
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	8
nnroduciion Development of vascular networks	8
Blood vascular system	10
Lymphatic vasculature	10
Vascular endothelial growth factor family	12
Ligands	12
VEGF, VEGF-B and PIGF	12
VEGF-C and VEGF-D	14
Receptors	15
VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2	15
VEGFR-3	16
Other key molecules in vessel growth during development	16
VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway in pathological conditions	18
Cancer	18
Lymphedema	19
Inflammation associated lymphanglogenesis (IAL)	20
Lymphatic vessels in obesity and lipid nomeostasis	20
Other diseases related to VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway	21
AIMS OF THE STUDIES	23
MATERIALS AND METHODS	24
Materials	24
Methods	26
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	31
Study I: VEGER-3 is required for blood vessel formation via Notch signaling	31
Study II: 1 vmnhatic vessel deficiency in mice promotes atherosclerosis	32
Study III: Intestinal lymphatic vessels need constant VEGE-C/VEGER-3 nathway	02
signaling for maintenance and function	34
Study IV: VEGE-C functions in embryonic erythronoiesis	36
	20
	33
ACKNOWLEDGMENIS	40
REFERENCES	42

ABBREVIATIONS

ADAMTS3	A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin		
Ang	Angionojetin		
REC	Rigiopoleum Riood vascular ondetholial coll		
	Dioou vasculai enuolitellai celi		
	Collegen and coloring binding EQE demained		
CCBEI	Collagen and calcium binding EGF domains I		
CCL21	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 21		
CLEC-2	C-type lectin receptor 2		
COUP-TFII	Chicken Ovalbumin Upstream Promoter		
	transcription factor 2		
CVDs	Cardiovascular diseases		
DII4	Delta like ligand 4		
E day	Embryonic day		
EMPs	Erythroid-myeloid progenitors		
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor		
Foxc2	Forkhead box protein C2		
HEV	High endothelial venule		
Hey	Hairy/enhancer-of-split related to YRPW motif protein		
HFD	High fat diet		
IAL	Inflammation associated lymphangiogenesis		
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein		
LEC	Lymphatic endothelial cell		
Lyvei	Lymphalic vessel endotheliai		
Notch	Notch homolog 1 translocation-associated (Drosonhila)		
Nrarp	NOTCH-regulated ankvrin repeat protein		
Nrp	Neuropilin		
P Day	Postnatal day		
PIGF	Placenta growth factor		
Prox1	Prospero homeobox 1		
RCT	Reverse cholesterol transport		
Sox18	SRY-Box 18		
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-beta		
TIE	Tyrosine kinase Ig and EGF homology domains		
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor		

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on these original publications, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Tammela T*, Zarkada G*, **Nurmi H**, Jakobsson L, Heinolainen K, Tvorogov D, Zheng W, Franco CA, Murtomäki A, Aranda E, Miura N, Ylä-Herttuala S, Fruttiger M, Mäkinen T, Eichmann A, Pollard JW, Gerhardt H and Alitalo K. VEGFR-3 controls tip to stalk conversion at vessel fusion sites by reinforcing Notch signalling. *Nature Cell Biology* 13(10):1202-13 (2011)
- II Vuorio T, Nurmi H, Moulton K, Kurkipuro J, Robciuc MR, Ohman M, Heinonen SE, Samaranayake H, Heikura T, Alitalo K and Ylä-Herttuala S. Lymphatic vessel insufficiency in hypercholesterolemic mice alters lipoprotein levels and promotes atherogenesis. Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis Vascular Biology 34(6):1162-70. (2014)
- III Nurmi H, Saharinen P, Zarkada G, Zheng W, Robciuc MR* and Alitalo K*. VEGF-C is required for intestinal lymphatic vessel maintenance and lipid absorption. *EMBO Molecular Medicine* 7(11):1418-25. (2015)
- IV Fang S*, Nurmi H*, Heinolainen K, Chen S, Salminen E, Saharinen P, Mikkola H and Alitalo K Critical requirement of VEGF-C in transition to fetal erythropoiesis Blood 128(5):710-20 (2016)

* These authors contributed equally to the study

Publication I was included in the thesis of Georgia Zarkada (University of Helsinki)

Publication II will be included in the thesis of Taina Vuorio (University of Eastern Finland)

These articles have been reprinted here with the permission of their copyright holders.

ABSTRACT

There are two vascular systems in the body, for blood and lymph, and both are indispensable for embryonic development. The closed circuit of blood vessels is responsible for oxygen and nutrient delivery to all compartments of the body and removal of CO_2 and waste products from tissues. The open-ended lymphatic system works as a return route for fluid, immune cells and dietary lipids into the blood circulation. The heart is the central engine for blood flow whereas lymphatic flow is achieved by skeletal and smooth muscle contraction around the lymphatic vessels. Differences between the blood vascular and lymphatic systems are apparent, from the molecular to the functional level. However, the two types of vessels also share a number of signaling molecules and building blocks of vessels.

The purpose of the studies presented in this thesis was to expand our knowledge about Vascular Endothelial Growth Factors (VEGFs) and their receptors in development and pathological conditions. In the first study, we found, surprisingly, that VEGFR-3, the receptor for the principal lymphatic vessel growth factor, VEGF-C, is crucial for the normal patterning of the developing blood vessels and that endothelial deletion of Vegfr3, but not VEGFR-3-blocking antibodies, leads to excessive blood vessel sprouting and branching. Furthermore, macrophages that express the VEGFR-3 and VEGFR-2 ligand VEGF-C localized to the vessel branchpoints, and Vegfc heterozygous mice exhibited inefficient angiogenesis characterized by decreased vascular branching. Our second study focused on the pathological aspect of the atherosclerosis. By using the transgenic mouse that overexpress soluble VEGFR-3 (VEGF-C/D trap) we could link the impaired lymphatic vessels to lipoprotein metabolism, increased plasma cholesterol levels, and enhanced atherogenesis. In the third project we focused on the role of lymphangiogenic growth factors in the steady-state homeostasis of lymphatic vessels in adult mice. Our findings from this study indicated that the lymphangiogenic growth factors provide trophic and dynamic regulation of the intestinal lymphatic vasculature, which could be especially important in the dietary regulation of adiposity and cholesterol metabolism. Finally in the last study we discovered a new role of VEGF-C in the embryonic development. To our surprise, we found a striking VEGF-C dependent phenotype with defective fetal liver erythropoiesis that resulted severe anemia in the Vegfc deteled embryos.

These studies have revealed a new viewpoint regarding the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway in embryonic and pathological conditions. With these results, our understanding of the VEGF family members has expanded beyond the blood and lymphatic vessel. Hopefully, this new knowledge will improve the possibilities to target the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway for the treatment of human diseases such as atherosclerosis, obesity, and vascular diseases.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Introduction

Vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs) and their receptors are the main regulators of endothelial cell growth, proliferation and migration leading to vessel growth. In general terms, the VEGF/VEGFR-2 pathway is crucial for blood vessel growth (*angiogenesis*) during embryonic development, whereas lymphatic vessel growth is dependent of VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 signaling. Studies using transgenic mouse models during the past three decades have revealed that these signaling molecules are required for normal vascular development. As an example, deletion of VEGF-C causes embryonic lethality around embryonic day (E) 16.5 and detailed inspection of these embryos revealed that they lack lymphatic vessels (Karkkainen et al., 2004). However, constitutive deletion of *Vegfr3*, the main VEGF-C receptor for lymphangiogenesis, arrested cardiovascular development at E9.5, leading to embryonic lethality even before the beginning of differentiation of the first lymphatic endothelial cells (Dumont et al., 1998). Thus VEGFR-3 has a dual role in blood and lymphatic vasculatures.

While the vascular developmental aspects of these key players have been confirmed in groundbreaking studies using knockout mice, the roles of these same molecules have been studied in several pathological conditions. In cancer and lymphedema, our knowledge of the molecular interactions required for new vessel growth has increased rapidly. The aim of the studies presented in this thesis has been to investigate more thoroughly the other roles that the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway has during development and in pathological conditions. Studies presented here indicate embryonic function of VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 beyond the lymphatic vessel regulation. In adult mice, our purpose was to clarify how these molecules regulate homeostasis under quiescent and challenged or pathological conditions. Mainly, all of the studies have been done using transgenic mouse models, which provide a way of validating the physiological and pathological interactions related to human diseases.

Development of vascular networks

The role of the blood circulatory system is to carry oxygen, nutrients, different types of blood cells and signaling molecules, such as hormones, to the cells and remove carbon dioxide and waste products from the peripheral tissues. This constant flow is based on the pumping mechanism of the heart, which together with other mechanisms like smooth muscle cell contractions in the arteries keeps blood flow and pressure at a certain level. Main components of the blood are erythrocytes, which are responsible for gas exchange and various types of leukocytes, including the immune cells of the body. The acellular part of the blood is called plasma, which can be described as a protein-rich fluid. The blood vessel network can be divided by the size of the vessels to large arteries, arterioles, capillaries, venules and veins. Altogether the length of the blood vessel system is 100 000 kilometers and the area covered by the vessel endothelium is about half of an ice hockey rink All tissues in the body, except the cornea and the cartilage are vascularized (Cines et al., 1998).

Lymphatic vasculature differs from blood vasculature in a few important aspects (Figure 1). First, lymphatic vasculature participates in the maintenance of the fluid balance in the body, in immune cell trafficking and in dietary lipid absorption from the gut. Second the lymphatic vessel network is not closed like the blood circulatory system. Lymphatic capillaries are blind-ended; they can be found in most of the tissues. Third, flow in lymphatic vessels is not driven by a particular organ, unlike in the blood circulatory system. Instead, it is controlled by the pulsatile activity of the lymphatic collector vessels, which contain valves to prevent lymph backflow and which are responsible for returning the lymph back to blood circulation (Bazigou and Makinen, 2013). At the cellular level blood endothelial cells (BECs) differ from lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs) by their molecular signature and by their interactions with the environment (Lohela et al., 2009).



Figure 1. Differences between blood and lymphatic vessels. A) Simplified schematic of fundamental differences between blood and lymphatic vessels. Blood vessels are a closed system with constant pumping from the heart, and lymphatic vessels are blind-ended, unidirectional vessels with valve structures in the collector vessels. B) Blind-end lymphatic vessels in the gut known as lacteals are responsible for dietary lipid absorption from the intestinal lumen. Blood vessels are presented here in red and blue, and lymphatic vessels in green. An important cell type responsible for barrier function in the intestine, the enterocytes, is shown in brown and smooth muscle cells in orange. C) Immunofluorescence images from the intestinal wall of mice. Scale bar 400 µm.

Blood vascular system

In mouse embryos, the first functional organ system is the cardiovascular system. In mice, this system can be distinguished already at E7.0 by expression of VEGFR-2 in angioblasts, which are mesodermal cells that differentiate to primitive endothelial cells (Dumont et al., 1995). These cells are responsible for formation of blood islands in the yolk sac, where the precursor cells of the endothelia and the hematopoietic cells interact (Medvinsky et al., 2011). These cells then form the primitive vascular plexus of the embryo in a process called vasculogenesis (Risau and Flamme, 1995). Later, the primary means for new vascular formation is angiogenesis, which can be described as formation of new vessels from existing ones via sprouting or splitting (Djonov et al., 2000). Several different vascular growth factors plus other signaling molecules, hypoxia and blood flow are responsible for the angiogenic steps that are necessary for proper vascular formation during development (Udan et al., 2013). This process includes the migration and proliferation of endothelial cells and branching and remodeling of the vasculature. The main molecular driver behind angiogenesis is the VEGF/VEGFR-2 pathway. Blood vessel growth and its directionality are mediated by a VEGF gradient, which reflects the hypoxia gradient or cellular source (e.g. macrophage) of VEGF (Ruhrberg et al., 2002). The endothelial cells will subsequently differentiate to obtain arterial or venous identity, which is regulated by expression changes of, for instance Eph receptors and Notch ligands (Chong et al., 2011). Still later, some specific venous ECs will differentiate to LECs starting from the cardinal vein (Yang and Oliver, 2014).

During the postnatal period angiogenesis continues in the growing tissues mainly via sprouting from previously established vascular beds. During the sprouting angiogenesis, ECs are highly responsive to external signals. The ECs have the ability to upregulate and downregulate signaling cascades during the vascular expansion (Jakobsson et al., 2009). The VEGFR-Notch pathway is well known in this process. The "Tip" cells are responsible for interaction with VEGFs via VEGFRs and the interaction induces Notch ligand, like DII4, expression in these cells; the Notch signaling in the "stalk" cells form a stabilizing mechanism for gradient-dependent sprouting (Hellstrom et al., 2007; Tammela et al., 2008). Tip and stalk cells show differences in gene expression, with tip cells expressing somewhat more VEGFR-2 (Gerhardt et al., 2003) and stalk cells more decoy-receptor VEGFR-1 (Krueger et al., 2011).

Lymphatic vasculature

Lymphatic vasculature was long considered a passive "drainage" of fluid and other components that had escaped from blood circulation. In the recent decades, this view has changed dramatically. The master regulator of the differentiation of lymphatic vessels from blood vessels is the Prospero Homeobox 1 (*Prox1*) gene (Wigle and Oliver, 1999). Although Prox1 can be found in some blood vessels, e.g. in venous valves (Bazigou et al., 2011) and cardiac valves (Rodriguez-Niedenfuhr et al., 2001), it has been shown to be a key transcription factor for the early steps of LEC differentiation from the embryonic veins. This has been shown also in the experimental setups where overexpression of *Prox1* in BECs alters their expression pattern toward LECs (Hong et al., 2002; Petrova et al., 2002).

During development several other molecules have been indicated to play a role in the early steps of lymphangiogenesis. The COUP-TFII and SOX18 transcription factors are responsible for Prox1 activation at E9.5 (Koltowska et al., 2013). On the other hand, Prox1 expression is responsible for VEGFR-3 upregulation in the common cardinal vein (Wigle et al., 2002), At E9.5 VEGFR-3 is highly expressed in the developing blood vasculature, and its complete absence leads to embryonic death one day later, at E10.5, because of cardiovascular defects (Dumont et al., 1998). From the cardinal vein, LECs start their budding to form the primitive lymph sac around E10-E10.5. This step is dependent on VEGF-C and its absence leads to failure of lymph sac formation (Hagerling et al., 2013; Karkkainen et al., 2004). Recent findings have highlighted the importance of VEGF-C processing throughout this process. The proteolytic activation of VEGF-C requires cooperation of the secreted factor collagen and calcium binding EGF domains 1 (CCBE1) plus a disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs 3 (ADAMTS3) (Bos et al., 2011; Bui et al., 2016; Janssen et al., 2016; Jeltsch et al., 2014; Le Guen et al., 2014).

Growth of the lymphatic vessels starts mostly from embryonic veins; it is directed towards the VEGF-C growth factor gradient in embryonic lymphangiogenesis (Yang and Oliver, 2014). However, recent fascinating findings have provided strong evidence that in several tissues there are other cellular sources that constitute non-venous origins of lymphatic vessels. Lymphatic vessel formation in the heart (Klotz et al., 2015), mesentery (Stanczuk et al., 2015) and skin (Martinez-Corral et al., 2015) is based on a process called lymphyasculogenesis, where assembly of cells of hemogenic origin forms lymphatic vessel structures. When the primary lymphatic plexus has been established, it will go through maturation, which includes hierarchical transformation that leads to blind-end primary capillaries to pre-collectors and collecting vessels (Yang and Oliver, 2014). An important step in this phase is the formation of lympho-venous valves, which prevent blood backflow to the lymphatic system (Hess et al., 2014). Collecting lymphatic vessels recruit smooth muscle cells (SMCs) and form a surrounding basement membrane simultaneously as the lymphatic valves are formed to the collectors via a Foxc2 transcription factor-dependent pathway (Norrmen et al., 2009). Upon maturation, the expression patterns of mature lymphatic vessel markers change from the developmental stage where LYVE-1, Prox-1, and VEGFR-3 are all fairly uniformly expressed in the primitive lymphatic plexuses. After maturation, the valve regions have higher expression of VEGFR-3 and Prox1 than the intervening lymphangions, the functional unit of a lymphatic vessel that locates between two valves, in the collector vessels, whereas LYVE-1 expression is decreased in the collectors and only maintained in the capillaries (Norrmen et al., 2009). Lymphatic capillaries change their junctions from zipper-like to button-like after birth (Baluk et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2014). Angiopoietin (Ang2) signaling regulates this change and it also contributes to vessel network formation during embryonic development (Zheng et al., 2014).

The lymphatic vessel network spreads throughout the skin and into most of the internal organs. New studies have indicated that the lymphatic vessels extend also to the eye and to the central nervous system (Aspelund et al., 2014; Louveau et al., 2015). There are three main functions for which lymphatic vessels are responsible: dendritic cell trafficking from tissues to lymph nodes

(Miteva et al., 2010; Randolph et al., 2005), regulation of tissue fluid balance (Dongaonkar et al., 2009), and absorption of dietary lipids (Iqbal and Hussain, 2009). The immune cell trafficking is closely related to the events of inflammation and will be discussed later in more detail. Regulation of tissue fluid homeostasis is an important function that has been from reviewed from a physiological perspective (Wiig and Swartz, 2012). The absorption of dietary lipids and lipid-soluble vitamins is the third well-described function of lymphatic vessels in normal conditions (Iqbal and Hussain, 2009). The main role of the lymphatic vessels in the intestine is to take up and transport chylomicrons, which have been packed and processed by the enterocytes, to the blood circulation via the thoracic duct (Dixon, 2010). A few studies have now shown that lymphatic vessels can maintain sodium balance via the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway (Machnik et al., 2009; Wiig et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2015). These findings however have not, however, yet convinced all researchers in the field.

Vascular endothelial growth factor family

Five main VEGFs and their three receptors with specific ligand binding and signaling patterns have been described to control blood and lymphatic endothelial cell proliferation and migration (Figure 2). Their molecular interactions are discussed below.



Figure 2. VEGF family. Main components of the VEGF family without soluble forms of the receptors occasionally or occurring heterodimers. The VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 axis is highlighted among other described interactions.

Ligands

VEGF, VEGF-B and PIGF

VEGF was discovered and named vascular permeability factor (VPF) in 1983 (Senger et al., 1983) and it was cloned six years later (Ferrara and Henzel, 1989). It is the best-characterized angiogenic factor. Deletion of a single allele of *Vegf* leads to embryonic lethality around E11.5 because of defects in blood vessel development (Carmeliet et al., 1996; Ferrara et al., 1996). VEGF binds to VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 (de Vries et al., 1992; Quinn et al., 1993) and to the neuropilin receptors 1 and 2 (Gluzman-Poltorak et al., 2000; Soker et al., 1998). Its expression can be detected already at E7.0 in the developing embryo (Dumont et al., 1995), highlighting the importance of this growth factor in early

development. Veaf gene expression dosage is critical; even a moderate increase of its expression leads to embryonic death at E12.5 because of defective heart development. VEGF acts as a paracrine factor, but autocrine signaling has been reported in endothelial cells (Lee et al., 2007). One of the principal regulators controlling the expression of Vegf is hypoxia via the hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1. but many inflammatory cytokines, hormones. and growth factors can also induce Vegf gene activation (Chung and Ferrara, 2011). The main role of the VEGF is to boost EC growth and survival (Alon et al., 1995; Benjamin et al., 1999; Benjamin and Keshet, 1997). This occurs mainly via the MAPK pathway, the PI3K-Akt pathway, and downstream proteins mediating anti-apoptotic signals (Gerber et al., 1998a; Gerber et al., 1998b). Studies have shown that VEGF is a potent inducer of vascular permeability (Dvorak et al., 1995) and inflammation (Larcher et al., 1998). Overexpression of VEGF via , for example, a viral vector induces robust and uncontrolled angiogenesis in several models (Detmar et al., 1998; Kenyon et al., 1996; Leung et al., 1989; Pettersson et al., 2000). Because of the vascular leakage and uncontrolled robust angiogenesis, the clinical use of the VEGF is very limited. Besides its roles in angiogenesis. VEGF functions in other processes in various tissues. It can boost bone formation (Midy and Plouet, 1994), affect lung maturation (Compernolle et al., 2002), and enhance neuronal proliferation (Zachary, 2005). VEGF can induce lymphatic vessel hyperplasia via VEGFR2, which is expressed at low levels in the lymphatic vessels (Nagy et al., 2002; Wirzenius et al., 2007).

VEGF-B, originally named as VRF (VEGF-related factor) was discovered in 1996 (Grimmond et al., 1996; Olofsson et al., 1996). VEGF-B deficiency does not affect normal mouse development (Aase et al., 2001). VEGF-B is robustly expressed in the heart, skeletal muscle, and some other tissues such as brown fat in embryos and adults (Aase et al., 1999; Nash et al., 2006). VEGF-B does not function as a traditional angiogenic factor comparable to VEGF. This has been shown in studies where it is overexpressed in several tissues without causing angiogenesis or vascular growth (Bhardwaj et al., 2003; Lahteenvuo et al., 2009; Li et al., 2008). However, VEGF-B does induce growth of coronary vasculature that protects the heart from myocardial infarction (Bry et al., 2010; Huusko et al., 2012; Karpanen et al., 2008; Kivela et al., 2014). VEGF-B has been linked to vascular remodeling in adipose tissue, adipose tissue metabolism, and insulin sensitivity via its function as a competitive ligand for the VEGF/VEGFR-1 pathway (Hagberg et al., 2010; Hagberg et al., 2012; Robciuc et al., 2016).

PIGF is one of the oldest members of the VEGF-family discovered over aquarter of a century ago (Maglione et al., 1991). Similarly to VEGF-B, it binds to VEGFR-1 and NRP-1 (Migdal et al., 1998; Park et al., 1994). PIGF-deficient mice are viable, but unlike the VEGF-B deficient mice, they have defects in angiogenesis and arteriogenesis in conditions, such as wound healing and inflammation, which have not been reported in the VEGF-B mice (Carmeliet et al., 2001; Freitas-Andrade et al., 2012). PIGF also differs from VEGF-B in its potential to induce angiogenesis (Luttun et al., 2002), inflammation (Oura et al., 2003), and vascular permeability (Odorisio et al., 2002) Because of these findings, it seems that in the pathological situations the inhibition of PIGF may be beneficial (De Falco, 2012).

VEGF-C and VEGF-D

VEGF-C and VEGF-D was isolated and cloned roughly twenty years ago as a ligands that can bind to VEGFR-3 and VEGFR-2 (Achen et al., 1998; Joukov et al., 1996). VEGF-C and VEGF-D growth factors differ from other VEGF family members by their proteolytic processing. They are expressed as precursor proteins, which can only bind to VEGFR-3 (Joukov et al., 1996; Lee et al., 1996). In humans both proteins are cleaved by furin or the proprotein convertases PC5 and PC7, which increase their binding activity towards VEGFR-3 (McColl et al., 2003; McColl et al., 2007; Siegfried et al., 2003). In humans, both proteins can be further processed by N-terminal cleavage to produce the fully processed forms (VEGF-C/D- Δ N Δ C), which can bind to and activate VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 (Achen et al., 1998; Joukov et al., 1996; Joukov et al., 1997). The mouse VEGF-C- Δ N Δ C can also bind to VEGFR-2 (Joukov et al., 1996), whereas VEGF-D- Δ N Δ C cannot (Baldwin et al., 2001).

Two different VEGF-C mRNA splice variants have been reported in mice and three in humans, but the shorter forms are poorly understood (Lee et al., 1996). VEGF-C is the main lymphangiogenic growth factor during development. During the development of the mouse, lack of Vegfc leads to complete lymphatic vessel growth arrest and failure of the primary LECs to bud out from the cardinal vein, resulting embryonic death around E16.5 (Karkkainen et al., 2004). Vegfc heterozygous mice die during the first weeks after birth because of lipid absorption problems; a few mice may survive in certain genetic backgrounds to weaning age (P21). However, also these mice develop peripheral edema because of hypoplastic cutaneous lymphatic vessels (Karkkainen et al., 2004). The expression of VEGF-C starts at about E8 near the areas where the primary budding of LECs begins from veins (Karkkainen et al., 2004; Kukk et al., 1996). VEGF-C has also a role in coronary artery development in the heart (Chen et al., 2014a; Chen et al., 2014b). In the developing brain, VEGF-C expression triggers VEGFR-3+ neural progenitor proliferation in the olfactory bulb and in alial precursor cells in the optic nerve (Le Bras et al., 2006). Studies in zebrafish have indicated that VEGF-C is crucial for the growth of axons of motor neurons via VEGFR-3 signaling (Kwon et al., 2013). In humans, VEGF-C expression has been analyzed both during the fetal period and in adult tissues (Partanen et al., 2000). Especially strong expression was observed in endocrine organs such as the thyroid, the adrenal medulla, and the pancreas (Partanen et al., 2000).

VEGF-C signaling via VEGFR-3 is crucial for LEC growth and survival via PI3 kinase-dependent Akt activation and PKC-dependent p42/p44 MAPK signaling (Makinen et al., 2001b). Adenoviral overexpression of VEGF-C in the airways induces sprouting lymphangiogenesis (Baluk et al., 2005), and the same outcome can be seen when it is overexpressed in the skin of transgenic mice (Jeltsch et al., 1997). Lymphatic vessel growth in the tumors is mostly VEGF-C-dependent and VEGF-C has been implicated in tumor metastasis to the sentinel lymph nodes and other organs (Hirakawa et al., 2007; Skobe et al., 2001a; Valtola et al., 1999).

VEGF-D was originally named as c-fos-induced growth factor (FIGF) for fibroblastic cells, and after its binding affinity to VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 was discovered it was re-named as VEGF-D (Achen et al., 1998; Orlandini et al., 1996). VEGF-D is dispensable during normal lymphatic vessel growth, even

though it is expressed in several tissues during development (Avantaggiato et al., 1998; Baldwin et al., 2005). VEGF-D has been reported to affect angiogenesis in both zebrafish and mice (Duong et al., 2014; Song et al., 2007). Expression of VEGF-D has been detected in several tissues, but its function in different tissues is poorly known (Achen et al., 1998). The lymphangiogenic effect of VEGF-D has been shown in several pathological situations, such as in allergic corneal lymphangiogenesis (Lee et al., 2015), tumor growth (Kopfstein et al., 2007; Van den Eynden et al., 2007) and in inflammation (Gordon et al., 2010). There is speculation that inflammation-associated lymphangiogenesis (IAL) is more VEGF-D- than VEGF-C-dependent (Bui et al., 2016). VEGF-D-induced lymphangiogenesis has been shown by using transgenic mice overexpressing VEGF-D or by viral delivery of this growth factor (Byzova et al., 2002; Veikkola et al., 2001). VEGF-D can furthermore induce angiogenesis when delivered into certain tissues using adenoviral vectors (Anisimov et al., 2009; Rutanen et al., 2004).

Receptors

VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2

VEGFR-1, also known as Fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (Flt1), was discovered in 1990 (Shibuya et al., 1990) and two years later it was confirmed to be a receptor for VEGF (de Vries et al., 1992). It comprises an extracellular domain made up seven immunoglobulin homology domains, a trans-membrane domain and a split intracellular tyrosine kinase domain, which is responsible for intracellular signaling after ligand binding and receptor dimerization (Tanaka et al., 1997). Vegfr1 deficiency leads to embryonic lethality around E9.0 because of the unorganized overgrowth of blood vascular endothelium (Fong et al., 1995). This and other findings suggest that VEGFR-1, which has weak tyrosine kinase activity, is not responsible for angiogenesis, rather it acts as a decoyreceptor for VEGF (Fong et al., 1995; Fong et al., 1999; Hiratsuka et al., 1998). During development VEGFR-1 is expressed mainly in hemangioblasts and in the adults in the endothelium, monocytes, dendritic cells and hematopoietic stem cells (Shibuya, 2001). Recently, VEGFR-1 was found to have an important role in adipose tissue metabolism in mice fed a high-fat diet (Robciuc et al., 2016).

VEGFR-2 is the main receptor for VEGF and it is responsible for developmental and pathological angiogenesis (Chung and Ferrara, 2011). It was found as fetal liver kinase-1 (Flk1) in mice (Matthews et al., 1991) and kinase-insert domain receptor (KDR) in humans (Terman et al., 1991). VEGF/VEGFR-2 signaling promotes endothelial cell survival, migration, proliferation, and sprouting (Gille et al., 2001). In addition to VEGF binding to VEGFR-2, the processed lymphangiogenic factors VEGF-C- Δ N Δ C in mice and humans and VEGF-D- Δ N Δ C in humans can activate endothelial cell signaling via VEGFR-2 (Achen et al., 1998; Joukov et al., 1997). *Vegfr2*-deficient embryos die around E9.0 because of impaired vasculogenesis and hematopoiesis (Shalaby et al., 1995). VEGFR-2 is expressed from E7.0 onwards in several compartments of the developing embryo (Millauer et al., 1993) and its expression can be detected in mature endothelial cells in adults throughout the lifespan (Matsumoto and Claesson-Welsh, 2001). Besides endothelial cells, VEGFR-2 is expressed for instance, hematopoietic cells (Ziegler et al., 1999) and some neuronal cells (Yang and Cepko, 1996). Low VEGFR-2 expression can be detected in LECs and a selective VEGFR-2 ligand is known to induce lymphatic vessel hyperplasia, but not sprouting (Nagy et al., 2002; Wirzenius et al., 2007).

VEGFR-3

VEGFR-3, also called Fms-like tyrosine kinase 4 (Flt4) was isolated in 1993 from human leukemia cells (Pajusola et al., 1992). It differs structurally from VEGFR-2, as it is proteolytically cleaved in the extracellular domain, but a disulfide bond (-S-S-) keeps the fragments together (Pajusola et al., 1994). The ligands for VEGFR-3 are VEGF-C and VEGF-D. VEGFR-3 has a dual role in embryonic blood and lymphatic vessel development. VEGFR-3 expression starts at E8.5 in blood vascular endothelium and Vegfr3 deficiency leads to embryonic death because of cardiovascular defects at E9.5 (Dumont et al., 1998). Later, during embryonic development and postnatal stages, VEGFR-3 expression is mainly observed in LECs and blocking of this pathway inhibits lymphatic vessel growth (Karpanen et al., 2006b; Makinen et al., 2001a; Zarkada et al., 2015). Deletion of VEGF-C and VEGF-D causes embryonic lethality around E16.5 because of lymphatic vessel defects, indicating that VEGFR-3 activity in the early embryonic stages is probably not controlled by these two VEGFR-3 ligands (Haiko et al., 2008). VEGFR-3 can form heterodimers with VEGFR-2, but detailed in vivo function of this heterodimer is incompletely known (Dixelius et al., 2003; Nilsson et al., 2010).

Besides LECs, some BECs express VEGFR-3 in adult tissues. VEGFR-3 can be found in fenestrated vessels in several organs, like the liver, spleen, and endocrine organs, as well as in high endothelial venules (HEVs) (Lymboussaki et al., 1998; Partanen et al., 2000). It has a role in non-endothelial cells such as dendritic cells (Hamrah et al., 2004), hematopoietic cells (Thiele et al., 2012) and in the corneal epithelia cells (Cursiefen et al., 2006). The variety in VEGFR-3 expression indicates its pivotal role in several diverse actions maintaining body homeostasis.

Other key molecules in vessel growth during development

Neuropilin (Nrp-1) and Nrp-2 were found to be involved in neuronal guidance via acting as receptors for semaphorins (Chen et al., 1997; Kolodkin et al., 1997). However, a few years later it was established that VEGFs can bind to neuropilins, which act as co-receptors for VEGFRs (Fuh et al., 2000; Makinen et al., 1999; Migdal et al., 1998; Soker et al., 1998; Whitaker et al., 2001). Nrp1 deficiency leads to embryonic lethality at E13.5 because of vascular defects (Kawasaki et al., 1999). Nrp2 is not necessary for vascular development, however Nrp2-deficient mice show abnormalities in lymphatic capillaries (Yuan et al., 2002). Combined deletion of both alleles of Nrp1 and Nrp2 leads to embryonic death already at E8.5, indicating an early requirement for interplay between these two molecules (Takashima et al., 2002). There is complicated interplay between VEGFs and Nrps. Some VEGF isoforms bind both Nrps and some only one of them (Gluzman-Poltorak et al., 2000; Soker et al., 2002). VEGF-B and PIGF can only bind to Nrp1 (Makinen et al., 1999; Migdal et al., 1998) and VEGF-C and VEGF-D can bind to both neuropilins (Karpanen et al., 2006a). The current view holds that Nrp1 is responsible for the interactions with VEGFR-2 signaling to promote angiogenesis (Soker et al., 2002), while Nrp2 interacts with VEGFR-3 to enhance lymphangiogenesis (Karpanen et al., 2006a).

The TIE receptors (Tyrosine kinase Ig and EGF homology domains) and their ligands angiopoietins (Angs) are another crucial growth factor family for vascular development (Augustin et al., 2009; Eklund and Saharinen, 2013). There are two Tie receptors (Tie1 and Tie2) (Dumont et al., 1992; Partanen et al., 1992). Tie receptor expression is restricted for the most part to the endothelial cells with a few exceptions, e.g. hematopoietic stem cells (Batard et al., 1996). The ligands for Tie2 are called Angiopoietins (Ang1, Ang2, and Ang3/4), whereas Tie1 is an orphan receptor, contributing to the Tie-Ang signaling via Tie2 (Saharinen et al., 2005). Recent discoveries have shown that Tie1 is required for full-scale Tie2 activation in vivo (D'Amico et al., 2014; Korhonen et al., 2016). Early characterization with *Tie1*- and *Tie2*-deficient mice has revealed the obligatory role of TIE receptors in embryonic vascular development (Dumont et al., 1994; Patan, 1998; Puri et al., 1995; Sato et al., 1995). Ang1 deficiency in mice phenocopy the Tie2 KOs (Suri et al., 1996) Tie-Ang signaling is based on a cellular microenvironment. Tie receptors are located in the cellular junctions of endothelial cells (Fukuhara et al., 2008; Saharinen et al., 2008). Mesenchymal cells express Ang1 and this acts in a paracrine matter with Tie2 to supports EC survival and this interaction has an pivotal role in a stabilization of the endothelial cell junctions and cytoskeleton interaction via actin (Gamble et al., 2000; Saharinen et al., 2008). Ang2 is a weaker ligand for Tie2 and it can be seen as an antagonist for Tie2, resulting in dose-dependent inhibitory effects on the Ang1-Tie2 pathway (Fiedler et al., 2004). Ang2 expression increases in situations where vascular stability is compromised, as in VEGF stimulation, hypoxia, or inflammation-based cytokine upregulation (Mandriota and Pepper, 1998). In addition, Ang2 has a mandatory role in the LEC junction maturation (Zheng et al., 2014).

Integrins are located on the cell surface and they are responsible for binding of matrix proteins like collagen and fibronectin. They form heterodimers and contain α - and β -subunits (Silva et al., 2008). Integrins interact with well-known vascular pathways. $\alpha \lor \beta$ 3-integrin is required for full VEGFR-2 activation via VEGF (Masson-Gadais et al., 2003), and in the Ang/Tie pathway destabilization of ECs is β 1-integrin-dependent (Hakanpaa et al., 2015). In the lymphatic system, the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway seems to require α 5 β 1 interaction for proper activation (Zhang et al., 2005). β 1-Integrin contact with VEGFR-3 can induce receptor phosphorylation followed by cell migration independently of the ligand (Wang et al., 2001).

Other growth factors/ligands have been indicated in the past decade to play a part in vessel development. Examples include platelet-derived growth factor pathway (Armulik et al., 2011), transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) – bone morphogenic protein (BMP) signaling (Cai et al., 2012), and fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) (Presta et al., 2005). Apart from these, there are individual molecules that have a role in vessel growth and maturation.

VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway in pathological conditions

Lymphatic vessels are involved in several human diseases. Below, I describe selected pathological conditions in which lymphatic vessels and the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway have a crucial function in disease pathogenesis. These conditions include cancer and its metastasis, lymphedema, inflammation and diseases related to lipid metabolism.

Cancer

Numerous studies in humans and rodents have shown the importance of angiogenesis in tumor growth. For this reason, several anti-angiogenic treatments have been developed for inhibition of tumor vascularization (Welti et al., 2013). However, the main reason for cancer mortality is metastasis, and a key indicator for patient survival is the sentinel lymph node metastases (Tuttle, 2004), highlighting the importance of lymphatic vessels in cancer biology. However, investigations of the lymphatic vessel involvement in tumor growth have not yet led to clinical therapeutic applications.

The same growth factors and receptors that regulate developmental lymphangiogenesis are also involved in tumor lymphangiogenesis and regulate lymphatic vessel invasion by tumor cells. Several human tumor lines express high levels of VEGF-C and VEGF-D (He et al., 2004; Hirakawa et al., 2007; Sleeman and Thiele, 2009). This indicates that tumor cells actively attract lymphatic vessels towards the growing tumor. Studies performed with mice have shown that blocking antibodies against VEGFR-3 inhibit tumor metastasis to lymph nodes, and in some tumors they also decrease angiogenesis (Laakkonen et al., 2007; Rutkowski et al., 2013; Tammela et al., 2008). Several upstream factors can promote the VEGF-C/D-VEGFR-3 axis in tumor lymphangiogenesis. Prostaglandins have been shown to modulate VEGF-C levels in the tumor microenvironment (Su et al., 2004; Timoshenko et al., 2006). Hormones such as erythropoietin (Lee et al., 2011) and adrenomedulin (Karpinich et al., 2013) increase tumor and sentinel lymph node lymphangiogenesis. Although their exact molecular mechanisms are not well known, VEGF-C/D-VEGFR-3 is very likely involved. Chemokines have also been shown to modulate metastasis to lymphatic vessels. Tumor cells secrete VEGF-C and the resulting increase in VEGFR-3 signaling in LECs leads to increased CCL21 secretion by the LECs, which can stimulate tumor cell migration toward lymphatic vessels (Issa et al., 2009). In the tumor microenvironment, lymphangiogenic factors induce sprouting lymphanoiogenesis, whereas beyond the primary tumor the downstream collecting lymphatic vessels expand in response to these factors (He et al., 2004). This has been related to increased VEGF-C and VEGF-D secretion from invasive tumor cells (Hoshida et al., 2006; Karnezis et al., 2012).

Based on the animal models and human studies, blocking of the VEGF-C/D-VEGFR-3 pathway can inhibit metastasis (Alitalo, 2011; Stacker et al., 2014). Several inhibitors and targets are under investigation as candidate drugs that could inhibit the VEGF-C/D-VEGFR-3 pathway (Stacker et al., 2014) and antibodies that block VEGFR-3 have been tested in phase I clinical trials in humans.

Lymphedema

Lymphedema is defined by abnormal accumulation of interstitial fluid in tissues, usually in the limbs, but lymphedema it is not restricted to the extremities. Lymphedemas are divided into two different types based on their origin; primary lymphedema is caused by mutations related to lymphatic vascular development genes and secondary lymphedema occurs after surgical operations or other types of damage that compromise lymphatic vessel function.

Mutations in about twenty different genes have been associated with different types of primary lymphedemas. Mutations of VEGFR3 are the most common reason for lymphedema (Brouillard et al., 2014). In a subset of these mutations, lymphedema is only one symptom caused by the abnormal gene function (Connell et al., 2013). Missense kinase-inactivating mutations in Vegfr3 have been described in so-called Chy mice (Karkkainen et al., 2000). These mice were used as a model for primary lymphedema characterization and treatment because their mutation and phenotype resembles those in a large subset of human primary lymphedema patients (Brouillard et al., 2014; Irrthum et al., 2000; Karkkainen et al., 2001). Mutations of VEGFR3 are the most common reason for Milroy's disease and its subtypes, which are congenital type of lymphedemas that involve lower limb swelling (Irrthum et al., 2000; Karkkainen et al., 2000). Whereas the Chy mice lack lymphatic vessels in the skin, in Milroy's disease patients the initial lymphatic vessels are present but they are non-functional (Karkkainen et al., 2001; Mellor et al., 2010). Rare mutations of Vegfc can also cause a Milroy-like disease, which is impossible to distinguish clinically from the Vegfr3 mutations (Gordon et al., 2013). Another gene closely to related to the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 axis is the Ccbe1. It has been shown that Ccbe1 is important factor for VEGF-C processing (Jeltsch et al., 2014). Mutations of this gene have been shown to cause the Hennekam-syndrome. Patients with the Hennekam-syndrome have early-onset lymphedema, lymphangiectasia and mental retardation (Alders et al., 2009). Foxc2 mutations cause late-onset primary lymphedema with some other characteristic symptoms like distichiasis (Brice et al., 2002). Mice that lack the Foxc2 gene have irregular lymphatic vessel patterning, abnormal pericyte interaction and defects in valve formation in the collecting lymphatic vessels (Petrova et al., 2004). VEGFR-3 has been shown to genetically interact with FoxC2 in LECs (Petrova et al., 2004). Recently it has been shown that Foxc2 is important for vessel stabilization by mechanotransductive signals induced by lymph flow (Sabine et al., 2015). Besides these genes, several others are involved in normal lymphatic vessel development and mutations of these genes cause primary lymphedema in humans (Aspelund et al., 2016; Brouillard et al., 2014; Connell et al., 2013).

An acquired lymphedema not related to genetic mutations is called secondary lymphedema, which is due to physical disruption, radiation damage, infection, or prolonged inflammation followed by fibrosis. A common form of secondary lymphedema can be found in a breast cancer patient who has undergone a surgical procedure in which the axillary LNs have been removed. Up to 30% of these patients develop lymphedema of the arm (Petrek and Heelan, 1998). In these individuals, lymphatic vessels commonly dilate and become dysfunctional (Ikomi et al., 2006). The scale of the breast cancer operation correlates with the severity of the condition. In addition, in geographically restricted secondary lymphedema cases in the tropics, e.g. in Africa and South-America, parasitic nematodas, transmitted by mosqitoes, can target lymphatic vessels and lymph nodes, preventing the normal flow of lymph and causing tissue swelling and fibrosis (Shenoy, 2008). Currently, only a very limited number of treatment options are available for lymphedema patients via interfering the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway.

Inflammation associated lymphangiogenesis (IAL)

Lymphangiogenesis is known to take place during inflammatory processes (Kim et al., 2014). This context-dependent and dynamic process can eventually have a major role in tissue healing (Kim et al., 2014). IAL occurs in response to a variety of inflammatory stimuli. For example, upon Gram-negative bacterial infection, several cell types produce high levels of lymphangiogenic growth factors because of bacterial lipopolysaccharide and cytokine exposure. Upon cytokine-induced recruitment, macrophages and granulocytes enhance further VEGF-C expression in the inflamed tissue (Baluk et al.. 2005) Lymphangiogenesis in inflammatory settings facilitates the resolution of tissue edema, and it promotes macrophage and DC mobilization to draining LNs (Huggenberger et al., 2011; Kataru et al., 2009). However, IAL modulation has a great impact on the inflammation clearance. In the skin, blocking of the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway prolongs tissue swelling in the oxazolone-induced hypersensitivity model, and, on the other hand, VEGF-C overexpression accelerates inflammation clearance (Huggenberger et al., 2011; Huggenberger et al., 2010). In inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) models, exogenous VEGF-C attenuates progression of the pathogenesis (D'Alessio et al., 2014). In contrast, reduction of macrophages that produce lymphangiogenic growth factors boosts the inflammation (Becker et al., 2016). It has further been shown that during mycoplasma-induced airway inflammation, lymphatic vessels remodel their iunctions (Baluk et al., 2005). Fourteen days after infection with Mycoplasma pulmonis, the sprouting lymphatic vessels had zipper-type junctions instead of buttons, but the change was reversed by antibody treatment against VEGFR-3 (Baluk et al., 2005). Thus, the lymphatic vessels show great plasticity during inflammation.

IAL seems to be involved also in tissue rejection after organ transplantation. An extensive lymphangiogenic response is associated with transplant rejection (Kerjaschki et al., 2004). Blocking of pathological lymphangiogenesis has been shown to be an effective treatment for preventing rejection of, for example, heart (Nykanen et al., 2010) and cornea transplants (Hos et al., 2015). The clinical potential of lymphatic vessels needs to be recognized, especially in the transplantation field.

Lymphatic vessels in obesity and lipid homeostasis

Obesity is the result of an imbalance between calorie uptake and energy consumption. The first evidence showing an interaction between the genes that control lymphatic vessel development and those that contribute to the onset of adiposity and obesity came from studies of *Chy* mice (Karkkainen et al., 2001) and Prox1+/- mice (Harvey et al., 2005), respectively. The latter phenotype was recently reversed by expression of a *Prox1* transgene in lymphatic endothelium, which prevented the late-onset obesity (Escobedo et al., 2016). Prox1+/- mice have dysfunctional lymphatic vessels and continuous leakage of chyle, which has been shown to be adipogenic *in vitro*, into the interstitial space (Harvey et

al., 2005) The obese phenotype has not been observed in other mice with lymphatic vessel dysfunction such as the Chy, K14-VEGFR3-Ig, or *Vegfc* heterozygous mice (Aspelund et al., 2016). *Prox1* is known to be expressed in many other metabolically active tissues, including the heart and skeletal muscle (Risebro et al., 2009), which could explain the obesity phenotype. Lymph has been shown to promote adipogenesis in the Prox1+/- mice (Escobedo et al., 2016; Harvey et al., 2005) and Chy mice have more adipocytes in subcutaneous tissue (Karkkainen et al., 2001). These findings suggest that lymphatic vessel dysfunction and lymph leakage promotes adipogenesis, but clear molecular evidence is still lacking.

It was recently reported that lymphatic vessels function in reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) (Lim et al., 2013; Martel et al., 2013). In these studies, lymphatic vessel dysfunction correlated with the impaired RCT in genetic and surgical models, demonstrating the essential role that lymphatic vessels have in cholesterol metabolism. This finding could link dysfunctional lymphatic vessels to the progression of atherosclerosis (Randolph and Miller, 2014). Previous studies have indicated that hypercholesterolemic mice have lymphatic vessel dysfunction and degeneration (Lim et al., 2009). A recent study has also proposed that soluble VEGFR-2 extracellular domain has a crucial role in controlling VEGF-C levels in atheroma-related lymphangiogenesis in mice (Taher et al., 2016). In humans, expression of lymphatic vessel markers increases in the areas where the plaques are located, indicating counter play between lesion formation and subsequent lymphatic vessel growth (Grzegorek et al., 2014). Thus, clearly, the lymphatic vessels are involved in lipid metabolism and related disorders, but more thorough investigations are required to uncover the molecular pathways that would provide clinical benefit.

Other diseases related to VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway

Lymphatic vessels and therefore also the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway are becoming the focus of new interest in other diseases as well. Below, I briefly describe some of the new hot topics in the field.

The recently discovered meningeal lymphatic vessels (Aspelund et al., 2015; Louveau et al., 2015) have triggered intense discussion of their function, especially in pathological settings. In neurodegenerative Alzheimer's disease and neuroinflammatory multiple sclerosis, the immune system has been shown to play a pivotal role, and the lymphatic vessels have been speculated to be involved in both (Louveau et al., 2016). However experimental evidence from the pre-clinical models does not yet exist.

Lymphatic vessel growth in the eye, mainly in the cornea, has been investigated in great detail during the past years (Bock et al., 2013). Corneal (blood and lymphatic) vessel growth occurs in several pathological conditions such as in corneal crafts and in aging-related diseases (Bock et al., 2013). New evidence shows that corneal transplantations are more successful after blocking the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway (Hos et al., 2015). After the discovery of Schlemm's canal as a VEGFC/VEGFR-3-dependent drainage pathway from the anterior chamber of the eye (Aspelund et al., 2014; Park et al., 2014), intense research has tried to validate its role in intra-ocular pressure regulation.

The C-type Lectin Receptor 2 (CLEC-2) was recently found to be responsible for the maturation of collecting lymphatic vessels in mouse embryos by inducing blood clotting when blood tries to enter lymphatic vessels at the lymphovenous border (Sweet et al., 2015). In pathological settings, this may be relevant in the case of a surgical trauma of the thoracic duct, in heart failure, and in lymphomas (Doerr et al., 2005). Under pathologically elevated venous pressures, lymphovenous clot formation may become more crucial for maintaining blood/lymph separation. If lymphovenous hemostasis is inhibited by antiplatelet/anticoagulant treatment or pathological hemostatic defects, dysfunction of the lymphatic vessels may be exacerbated, contributing to lymphedema (Welsh et al., 2016).

Thus, specific drug and treatment candidates can be used to treat lymphatic vessels in certain pathological conditions such as cancer and lymphedema. In cardiovascular diseases, obesity and inflammation, lymphatic vessels have also been found to be affected and in the near future this knowledge will hopefully translate into new clinical applications. Recent findings on lymphatic vessels in the central nervous system have raised hopes for new potential applications in diseases where the lymphatic vascular system has not yet been targeted.

AIMS OF THE STUDIES

The specific aims of my thesis studies have been listed below.

- I. To clarify how VEGFR-3 contributes to angiogenesis
- II. To determine the role of the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway in atherosclerosis using mice in which this pathway is interfered
- III. To elucidate whether VEGF-C is necessary for lymphatic vessel maintenance in adult mice, in addition to its crucial role during lymphatic vessel development
- IV. To investigate erythropoiesis in Vegfc gene deleted mice based on their pale appearance relative to their littermates

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The materials and methods are described in detail in the original publications. Tables of the most relevant materials and methods are provided below, followed by detailed protocols of the methods used most.

Materials

Table I. Mouse lines

Csf1 ^{op/op}	Mice with a spontaneous osteopetrosis mutation	(Wiktor- Jedrzejczak et al., 1982)	I
Foxc2 ^{+/-}	Foxc2 gene deletion	(lida et al., 1997)	I
K14-Vegfr3-Ig	Over-expression of the human VEGFR3-Ig protein under the K14 promoter in skin	(Makinen et al., 2001a)	II
LDLR ^{-/-} /ApoB ^{100/100}	Mice expressing an APO-B100 transgene and are deficient in low- density lipoprotein receptor	(Veniant et al., 1998)	11
PdgfbiCreER ¹²	Inducible Cre recombinase under the control of <i>Pdgfb</i> gene promoter	(Claxton et al., 2008)	I
Rosa26-CreER ¹²	Inducible Cre recombinase under the control of <i>Rosa26</i> gene promoter	(Ventura et al., 2007)	III,IV
Rosa26-R	Reporter mice expressing β- calactosidase (LacZ) gene after Cre- recombination	(Soriano, 1999)	1
Rosa26 ^{LSL-to romato}	Expression of TdTomato gene after Cre-recombination	(Madisen et al., 2010)	IV
Vav-Cre	Constitutive Cre recombinase under the control of <i>Vav</i> gene promoter	(de Boer et al., 2003)	IV
Vegfc ^{+/Lac2}	Vegfc heterozygous mice in which β- calactosidase (LacZ) gene has been inserted into the Vegfc locus	(Karkkainen et al., 2004)	I,III,IV
Vegfc ^{noxmox}	Mice with conditionally targeted Vegfc alleles	(Aspelund et al., 2014)	III,IV
Vegfd ^{+/-}	Heterozygous Vegfd gene deleted mice	(Baldwin et al., 2005)	1,111
Vegfr2 ^{+/Lac2}	β-calactosidase (LacZ) gene has been use to replace one allele of the <i>Vegfr</i> 2 gene	(Shalaby et al., 1995)	I,III,IV
Vegfr3 ^{+/Lacz}	β-calactosidase (LacZ) gene has been used to replace one allele of the Vegfr3 gene	(Dumont et al., 1998)	I,III,IV
Vegfr3 ^{+/KD}	Mice have a missensepoint mutation in the tyrosine kinase domain of Vegfr3 (A3157T)	(Karkkainen et al., 2001)	1,11
Vegfr3 ^{flox/flox}	Vegfr3 conditionally targeted mice	(Haiko et al., 2008)	I,III,IV
NMRI,CD1,C57bl,FVB/n	Wild type mice	Taconic, Envigo	I,III,IV

Table II. Antibodies

Activated Coopees 2	Dabbit polyalanal	DPD Systems AF925	N7
Activated Caspase 3,	Rabbit polycional	R&D Systems, AF835	IV
BrdU	Mouse monoclonal Alexa	Invitrogen B35132	1
Bide	Fluor 594 conjugated	clone MoBU-1	•
c-Kit, mouse	Goat, biotinylated	R&D Systems, AF1356	IV
CD3, mouse	Rabbit monoclonal	Abcam, ab16669	II
CD45, mouse	Rat polyclonal	BD Pharmigen, 550566	IV
Collagen IV, mouse	Rabbit polyclonal	Cosmo Bio (Lb, 1403)	1
Dll4, mouse	Goat polyclonal	R&D systems AF1389	1
E-Cadherin, mouse	Purified mouse	BD Pharmigen, 610181	IV
Endomucin, mouse	Rat monoclonal	Santa Cruz, sc-65495	1
F4/80, mouse	Rat monoclonal	AbD Serotec, MCA497R	I, IV
FITC	Rabbit polyclonal	Invitrogen, 71-1900	1
FOXC2, mouse		(Furumoto et al., 1999)	1
GFP	Rabbit polyclonal	Torrey Pined Biolabs TP401	1
hF4-3C5, human	Mouse humanized	ImClone systems	1
	monoclonal	(Persaud et al., 2004)	
LYVE1, mouse	Rabbit polyclonal	Reliatech, 103-PA50AG	Ш
LYVE1, mouse	Rabbit polyclonal	(Karkkainen et al., 2004)	III,IV
mMQ (Macrophages)	Rabbit polyclonal	ACSC, AIA31240	II
PECAM-1, mouse	Rat monoclonal	BD Biosciences 553370, clone MEC 13.3	I, II, III,IV
PECAM-1, mouse	Hamster monoclonal	Millipore, MAB1398Z	IV
Prox-1, human	Goat polyclonal	R&D systems, AF2727	III
SMA, mouse	Mouse Cy3-conjugated	Sigma, C6189	III
TIE2, mouse	Rat monoclonal	eBioscience, CD202b, Clone:TEK4	1
VEGFC, human	Rabbit polyclonal, #6	(Baluk et al., 2005)	1
VEGFR2, mouse	Goat polyclonal	R&D systems, AF644	IV
VEGFR2, mouse	Rat monoclonal	(Prewett et al., 1999); CD101	1
VEGFR3, mouse	Goat polyclonal	R&D Systems, AF 743	I, III, IV
VEGFR3, mouse	Rat monoclonal	(Pytowski et al., 2005) Clone mF4-31C1	1
Ter-119, mouse	Rat polyclonal	BD Pharmigen, 550565	IV
Von Willebrand Factor	Rabbit polyclonal	DAKO, A0082	IV
Conjugated secondary antibodies	Chicken, Donkey, Goat – 488,594,647 labeled	Invitrogen	1.11.111,1V

Table III. Cell lines, recombinant viruses, recombinant proteins and inhibitors

CELL LINES			
B16-F10-Luc-G5	Luciferase expressing mouse melanoma cells	Caliper Life	1
HDBEC	Human dermal blood vascular endothelial cells	Promo Cell	
LLC	Mouse Lewis lung carcinoma cells	ATCC	Ι
mESC	Mouse embryonic stem cells derived from blastocysts	(Holmborn et al., 2004)	1
VIRAL VECTORS			
AdVEGF ₁₆₅	Human VEGF165 - Adenovirus	(Enholm et al., 2001)	
AdVEGFB ₁₆₇	Human VEGFB167 - Adenovirus	(Lahteenvuo et al.,	

		2009)	
pMX-DII4 ECTM- EGFP	pMX retrovirus that encodes mouse DII4-ECTM-EGFP	(Zheng et al., 2011a)	
AAV-sVEGFR3	Mouse sVEGFR3 - AAV	(Aspelund et al., 2014)	IV
RECOMBINANT PROTEINS		· · ·	
DII4-Fc	Mouse DII4 fused to Fc domain of human IgG	(Zheng et al., 2011b)	Ι
Jagged 1	A Notch activating synthetic peptide	(Weijzen et al., 2002)	I
sc-Jagged1	Scrambled sequence for Jagged1. peptide	(Weijzen et al., 2002)	
VEGF ₁₆₅	Recombinant human VEGF	R&D systems	
	Fully processed form of human VEGFC	(Karpanen et al., 2006a)	I
SMALL MOLECULE			
Sunitinib	Multi targeted receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor	Pfizer	III

Methods

Table IV. Summary of methods

Adenoviral transduction of mice	1
Cell culture	I, IV
Cell transfections and transductions	1
Characterization of a new transgenic mouse strain	III
Clinical chemistry	П
FACS analysis	IV
Functional analysis of lymphatic vessels	,
Histological analysis of mouse aortas	11
Immunoluoresence/immunohistochemistry	I - IV
Immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting	1
In Vivo studies	I - IV
Microscopy	I - IV
Mouse embryo stimulation with growth factors/gene deletions	I, IV
Lipid analysis	III
PI3K activity assay	1
Polymerase chain reaction	I - IV
Production and purification of DII4-Fc	1
Real-time quantitative PCR	I, III, IV
Statistical analysis	I - IV
Tumor experiments	1
X-gal staining of the tissues	I, III, IV

Cell culture

Primary human blood vascular endothelial cell (hBEC) experiments.

hBECs (PromoCell) were maintained in endothelial cell growth medium (ECGM, PromoCell) with supplements provided by the manufacturer. For the stimulation experiments, hBECs were starved in serum-free ECGM for 4 h and stimulated for 1 or 2 h with different growth factors in starvation medium. For the silencing

experiments, hBECs were transfected with human VEGFR3 or non-targeted siRNA (Thermo Scientific Dharmacon siGENOME ON-TARGETplus SMARTpool reagents), using Oligofectamine (Invitrogen). Gene expression was examined 48 h post-transfection by qRT-PCR of cell lysates in RLT buffer (Qiagen). Alternatively, cells were lysed in PLCLB lysis buffer (150mM NaCl, 5% glycerol, 1% Triton X-100, 1.5 M MgCl2, 50 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 1mM Na3VO4, phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride, leupeptin and aprotinin) for immunoprecipitation.

Methocult CFU assay

Freshly isolated cells from E14.5 fetal livers, yolk sac (YS) and E10.5 embryos were plated in duplicates in 1 ml of MethoCult GF M3434 medium or SF M3436 medium according to the manufacturer's instructions (Stemcell Techonologies). Colonies were studied and counted at days 3, 10, and 14.

Functional analysis of the lymphatic vessels

Peripheral lymphatic vessel function was determined by injecting Evans Blue (30 μ l, 30 mg/ml in 0.7% sodium chloride (NaCl)) into footpads of anesthetized mice. After 30 min, the mice were euthanized and transport of the dye to the thoracic duct was evaluated. For lipid absorption test in the gut, mice were pre-treated with WR1339 (Tyloxapol;Sigma) at 500 mg/kg intraperitoneal (i.p) for lipase inhibition one hour prior to oil Gavage.

Histological analysis of the mouse aortas

Mice were euthanized with carbon dioxide (CO2) or decapitation or perfused with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) after over dose of anesthetics through the left ventricle. Aortas were dissected from the aortic arch to bifurcation and fixed in 4% PFA-PBS overnight. Aortas were opened longitudinally and attached to a black surface. For hematoxylin-eosin, modified Movat's pentachrome and immunohistochemical stainings, tissue samples were collected in 4% PFA-PBS for overnight fixation, processed to paraffin blocks and cut into 4 or 7 μ m sections. For Oil-red-O staining, tissue samples were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and cut into 10 μ m frozen sections. Cross-sectional lesion areas were quantified from aortic roots stained with hematoxylin-eosin. Percentage of the lesion area in the intima was calculated from tissue sections at the aortic sinus level, defined by the presence of three valve cusps. Vascular outward remodeling was determined by measuring the area within the internal elastic lamina.

Immunofluorescence/Immunohistochemistry

Tissue sections ranging between 10 and 100 μ m in thickness were fixed overnight with 4% PFA or with cold acetone immediately before the staining, washed with PBS and blocked with TNB (PerkinElmer). Sections were washed with TNT buffer and the primary antibodies were detected with the appropriate Alexa 488, 594 or 647 secondary antibody conjugates (Molecular Probes/Invitrogen). Whole mount tissues were fixed overnight in 4 % paraformaldehyde (PFA), followed by washeing in PBS and staining with antibodies in donkey immune mix. For analysis of the retinal microvasculature, tissues were stained with biotinylated Griffonia simplicifolia lectin (Vector

Laboratories), followed by immunostaining. All fluorescently labeled samples were mounted with Vectashield containing 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI, Vector Laboratories).

In vivo studies

Cre-recombinase activation

For induction of CreERT2 mediated recombination in embryos, the mother was injected at the indicated days with two consecutive intragastric doses of 4-OH tamoxifen (4-OHT) (Sigma) (25 mg/ml dissolved in 100 μ l of ethanol/olive oil). In the neonatal mice, the Cre-mediated recombination was induced between P1 and P5 by daily intragastric administration of 4-OHT (2 μ l at 25 mg/ml dissolved in ethanol). Recombination in adult mice (7–8 weeks old) was done by intragastric tamoxifen (Sigma, dissolved in 100 μ l of corn oil at 2 mg/ml) administration during five consecutive days. In some experiments, Cre was induced by subcutaneous implantation of sustained tamoxifen-release pellets.

Tumor experiments

B16-F10-Luc2-G5 mouse melanoma or mouse LLC cells were maintained in DMEM, supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine, penicillin (100 U/ml), streptomycin (100 μ g/ml), and 10% fetal calf serum (Promo Cell). For B16-F10-Luc2-G5 cells, zeocin was added at a final concentration of 0.3 mg/ml as a selection marker. The B16 and LLC syngeneic tumor grafts were established by injecting 2-4*10⁶ cells into the subcutaneous space of the abdominal flank.

High Fat Diet (HFD) studies

For the HFD experiments, the mice were treated with tamoxifen at the age of 7-8 weeks. The diet (60% fat, D12492, Research Diets Inc.) was started approximately 4 weeks later and continued for an additional 8 weeks. The glucose tolerance test (1g/kg; GTT) and the insulin tolerance test (0.75 U/kg; ITT) were performed after 6 hours of fasting. Feces were collected for lipid analysis. Mouse body composition was analyzed by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometric (DEXA) densitometry (Lunar PIXImus 2, GE Heathcare) after 8 weeks of HFD. For lipid absorption test, mice were pre-treated with WR1339 (Tyloxapol;Sigma) 500 mg/kg i.p. for lipase inhibition one hour prior to oil Gavage.

Treatment with the receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK)-inhibitor Sunitinib was done by daily intra-gastric administration at a concentration of 60 mg/kg for 14 days. Sunitinib was diluted to 1,8% NaCl, 0,1 % Tween20, 0,5 carboxy-methyl cellulose solution. Control-treated mice were administered the same solution without Sunitinib.

Stress anemia model

Phenylhydrazine hydrochloride (PHZ; 60 mg/kg, i.p) or 5-

fluorouracil (5-FU; 150 mg/kg, intraperitoneally) was injected into adult mice at the age of 13 and 16 weeks, respectively. Peripheral blood (PB) was collected from the saphenous vein into heparinized capillaries (Hirschmann laborgerate) every 3 days after PHZ or 5-FU treatment. Analysis was then performed using Exigo automated blood analyzer (Boule Medical AB).

Microscopy

Immunofluorescence images were taken with a compound fluorescent microscope (Zeiss Axioplan 2, Carl Zeiss; 5x objective with numerical aperture (NA) 0.15; 10x 0.30) or a confocal microscope (Zeiss LSM 510Meta, objectives 10x with NA 0.45, oil objectives 10x with NA 1.3 and 63x with NA 1.4 or with a Zeiss LSM780 (10x with NA:0.45 20X with NA:0.80). Three-dimensional projections were digitally reconstructed from confocal z stacks. Bright-field sections were viewed with a Leica DM LB microscope (Leica Microsystems), and images were captured with an Olympus DP50 color camera (Olympus Soft Imaging Solutions GMBH).

Mouse embryo stimulation

E10.5-E11.5 NMRI wild-type embryos were excised from amnionic sacs and placed in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) containing 0.2% bovine serum albumin (BSA) on ice. The embryos were injected through the outflow tract with 0.5 ml of DMEM containing recombinant proteins. Embryos were placed in DMEM containing the same concentration of growth factors, incubated at 37°C for 20 min and then lysed in lysis buffer. Insoluble materials were removed by centrifugation at 14 000g for 15 min.

Real-time quantitative PCR

Total RNA from tissues or cultured cells was isolated using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) or NucleoSpin RNA II Kit (Macherey-Nagel). Homogenization was carried out using rotor-stator homogenization, followed by on-column DNase digestion (RNase-Free DNase Set, 79254). Quality control of samples was carried out using a Nanodrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer. RNA was reverse-transcribed using the DyNAmo cDNA Synthesis Kit or according to the manufacturer's instructions. Three qRT-PCR reactions were carried out from every *in vitro* transcription reaction using TaqMan Gene Expression Assays (Applied Biosystems) and the DyNAmo Probe qPCR Kit (F-450S, Finnzymes) or the iQ Supermix Kit. qRT-PCR was carried out using a BIO-RAD C1000 Thermal cycler according to a standardized protocol.

Statistical analysis

Quantitative data were compared between groups by two-tailed unpaired t-test or one-way ANOVA followed by post hoc tests for multiple comparisons. Values are expressed as mean +/- SEM or +/- SD. P-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

X-gal staining of the tissues

Tissues were dissected and immersed into cold washing buffer (1M MgCl2, 1% deoxycholate, 2% Nonidet P-40, 0.1 M Phosphate buffer pH 7.3) and then fixed in fixing solution (25% glutaraldehyde, 100mM EGTA pH 7.3, 1M MgCl2, 0,1M phosphate buffer pH 7.3) for 4 h at RT, washed 3x15 minutes with washing buffer, stained with X-Gal solution overnight at 37°C for β -galactosidase activity. Alternatively, fixing was done at +4°C. and the staining at RT. Tissues were then washed for 8-24 h in washing buffer and fixed with 4% PFA overnight at

+4°C. Next day, samples were washed with PBS and processed for paraffin embedding.

A detailed description of the methods can be found in the original publications

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Study I: VEGFR-3 is required for blood vessel formation via Notch signaling

New blood vessels rise mainly from pre-existing ones via sprouting during angiogenesis (Chung and Ferrara, 2011). The irreplaceable key players in this process are VEGF (Carmeliet et al., 1996; Ferrara et al., 1996) and its primary receptor VEGFR-2 (Gille et al., 2001). Hierarchical growth of the developing vascular bed is crucial for proper vascular function. Hierarchy is based on specification of the tip and stalk cells of the sprouts (Jakobsson et al., 2009). This is controlled by VEGF induced delta-like 4 (Dll4) expression in the tip cells and Notch1 activation in the stalk cells (Jakobsson et al., 2009). The role of VEGFR-3 in blood vessel development is evident from embryonic studies, where Vegfr3 deletion led embryonic death as early as E9.5 (Dumont et al., 1998). Whereas in intrauterine development VEGFR-3 expression is later restricted lymphatic vessels (Kaipainen et al., 1995), has been shown that inhibition of VEGFR-3 can inhibit also pathological angiogenesis to some extent (Tammela et al., 2008). On the other hand VEGFR-3 has been linked to sprouting angiogenesis via Notch signaling (Tammela et al., 2008) and it has been proposed to have a suppressing role that prevents overactivation of VEGFR-2 in the blood vessel (Matsumura et al., 2003).

In this study, we show that genetic deletion of *Vegfr3* from BECs leads to blood vascular hyperplasia with increased vessel sprouting, branching, and cell proliferation in the neonatal mouse retina angiogenesis model (Figure 1, I). This was also confirmed by careful examination of the developing vascular beds in the Chy-mice (Karkkainen et al., 2001), which have reduced signaling capacity in the VEGFR-3 pathway (Figure 2, I). These results conflict with previous findings that show that blocking of the VEGFR-3 pathway with antibodies inhibits angiogenesis (Tammela et al., 2008).

Phosphorylation of the VEGFR-2 was increased when VEGFR-3 was deleted from the endothelial cells, explaining the increased vascular phenotype of the Vegfr3-deleted mice (Figure 3, I). Our model indicates that when the VEGFR-3mediated signaling is inactive, the potent VEGFR-2 signaling pathway is more active, resulting in increased endothelial cell growth. Loss of VEGFR-3 signaling from endothelial cells decreases expression of the Notch target genes Hev1. *Hev2.* and *Nrarp.* and a rescue experiment with Jagged1, a small Notch agonist peptide, reversed the effect of Vegfr3 gene deletion, confirming the interplay between VEGFR-3 and Notch1 (Figure 4, I). It seems that VEGFR-3 suppresses VEGFR-2 signaling, and this balances the Notch cascade. However, if the VEGFR-3 pathway is blocked by genetic deletion, Notch-based suppression is not functional in the stalk cell compartment. VEGF-C stimulation of VEGFR-3 in BECs led to Notch activation and decreased sensitivity to VEGF signaling (Benedito et al., 2009; Tammela et al., 2008). However, this phenotype was only obtained by genetic deletion of Vegfr3, whereas blocking antibodies against VEGFR-3 did not produce similar effects (Tammela et al., 2008). This indicates that blocking of the receptor or its genetic deletion lead to different outcomes in the developing vascular plexuses. Blocking of VEGFR-3 with antibodies or kinase inhibitors can only target the active part of VEGFR-3 signaling, whereas the passive part of the signaling can be eliminated only via genetic deletion of the *Vegfr3*.

Thus, although VEGF-C is the main factor responsible for lymphatic vessel growth (Karkkainen et al., 2004), we show in this study that reduced levels of VEGF-C, by using the *Vegfc^{+/LacZ}* mouse, cause a delay in normal blood vessel development in the neonatal retina, including decreased branching and Notch target gene expression (Figure 5, I). This phenotype differs from the endothelial cell *Vegfr3* deletion phenotype, which instead causes increasing sprouting of developing vascular bed. VEGF-C expression was found to be restricted to macrophages in the retina, being especially prominent at the fusion sites of the developing vessels. The fully processed form of VEGF-C can bind to VEGFR-2 (Joukov et al., 1996; Joukov et al., 1997). Manipulating the *Vegfc* levels did not entirely recapitulate the receptor deficiency, but instead led to growth retardation in the vascular plexuses. In both cases, the Notch activation pattern and normal tip/stalk cell contribution were altered.

Later studies have deepened our understanding about the interplay between VEGFR2 and VEGFR3 in angiogenesis. In 2012, Notch-dependent VEGFR3 upregulation was reported to allow angiogenesis without VEGF-VEGFR2 signaling (Benedito et al., 2012); however, a contradictory study revealed that VEGFR2 is required independently of VEGFR3 signaling for endothelial Dll4 upregulation and angiogenic sprouting (Zarkada et al., 2015). This later study speculates about the discrepant findings and concludes that major differences exist in some technical aspects (Zarkada et al., 2015). The differences between these studies could be explained by the incomplete VEGFR2 deletion and the specificity of the tools (e.g. the tyrosine kinase inhibitor) used to inactivate VEGFR3 in the previous studies.

Study I provides more thorough understanding of how VEGFR-3 regulates the conserved VEGF/VEGFR-2 pathway in angiogenesis, but further analysis is required to elucidate the exact molecular interactions contributing to the angiogenesis between VEGFRs and the Notch pathway. VEGFR3 signaling in BECs could be regulated by specific intra-cellular interactions of tyrosine residues that activate downstream signaling differentially depending of the context. This could lead to development of new clinical innovations by manipulating the VEGFR-3 in pathological angiogenesis.

Study II: Lymphatic vessel deficiency in mice promotes atherosclerosis

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) and cancer are the leading causes of mortality in Western countries. The progression of atherogenesis has been characterized well during the past decades. High low-density lipoprotein (LDL) levels in the blood predisposes to lipid accumulation to the intima of arteries, which later is followed by macrophage infiltration and active proliferation of the smooth muscle cells (Lusis, 2000). Active angiogenesis has been shown to occur at sites of atheroma development (Moulton, 2006), but so far the role of lymphatic vessels in this process has been poorly described. In this study, our aim was to investigate how atheromas develop upon lymphatic vessel insufficient mouse strains in a hypercholesterolemic mouse strain fed HFD. First, we were able to show that in *Chy* mice (Karkkainen et al., 2001) cholesterol levels are significantly higher than in their WT littermates prior to HFD and K14-VEGFR-3-Ig (Makinen et al., 2001a) mice showed a similar increased cholesterol level trend in comparison with their littermates after the HFD (Figure 1, II). When the K14-VEGFR3-Ig mice was then crossed with a hypercholestrolemic LDLR^{-/-}/ApoB^{100/100} background, they showed a similar pattern triglyceride levels prior and after the HFD (Figure 2, II). The lipoprotein profile in the K14-VEGFR3-Ig; LDLR^{-/-}/ApoB^{100/100} mice were compared with that in the LDLR^{-/-}/ApoB^{100/100} mice. An increased LDL fraction was observed in K14-VEGFR3-Ig; LDLR^{-/-}/ApoB^{100/100} mice (Figure 3, II) and the subsequent *en face* analysis of the large arteries indicated larger atheromas in the aorta in these mice. The most striking differences were observed when the mice were challenged with HFD in young or middle age and especially in the early stages of the disease (Figure 4, II). This indicates that lymphatic vessels and elevated lipoprotein levels have a strong impact on the onset of the atheroma formation.

The other atheroma mouse model $ApoE^{-/-}$ has been shown to have impaired lymphatic drainage and abnormal lymphatic vessels in the skin (Lim et al., 2009). This shows that there is a connection between elevated cholesterol levels and lymphatic dysfunction. This was the first indication that high lipoprotein levels and lymphatic vessels interact. Later, it was discovered that the lymphatic vessels have an important role in reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) and this transport function was meditated by SR-B1 (Lim et al., 2013). The lymphatic vessel-deficient *Chy* mice have also been shown to have impaired RCT, and the difference seems to be meditated by macrophages (Martel et al., 2013). Another study revealed that immune cell trafficking, one important function of lymphatic vessels that is crucial for atheroma formation, is compromised in K14-VEGFR3-Ig mice (Thomas et al., 2012).

It is thus obvious that dysfunctional lymphatic vessels affect elevated lipoprotein levels in the blood circulation and that RCT is impaired when lymphatic vessels are lacking or poorly functional. Our results show that the lymphatic vessels are present in the areas where the plaques are develop and that soluble VEGFR3 prevents lymphatic neovascularization (Figure 6, II). The more rapidly advancing atheromas in the K14-VEGFR3; LDLR^{-/-}/ApoB^{100/100} mice might be generated because the dysfunctional lymphatic vessels cannot clear lipids from the developing plaques.

So far, human studies have shown increased levels of VEGF-C, VEGF-D, and LYVE-1 in postmortem atheroma samples compared with healthy controls (Grzegorek et al., 2014). This indicates that cytokine secretion activates the lymphatic system and this later causes increased lymphangiogenesis via directional sprouting and vessel growth towards the inflamed atheroma plaque combined with lymphocyte/macrophage trafficking in atherosclerosis (Grzegorek et al., 2014). Preliminary studies from mice propose that extracellular vesicles could be used as biomarkers for inflammatory progression and as an indicator for lymphatic vessel dysfunction (Milasan et al., 2016).

Open questions remain regarding the interplay between lymphatic vessels and CVDs. For example, how do lymphatic endothelial cells contribute to plaque development? Is increased lymphangiogenesis in the atheroma lesions

beneficial for disease prevention, and how does RCT act in atheroma plaques compared with healthy tissues? These questions should be answered by using more sophisticated models in order to determine whether lymphatic vessels can actively clear the adverse lipid particles from the atheroma and to what extent? In murine models, however, it is not possible to mimic all of the aspects of atherosclerosis, as we know that the disease progression and also the tissue itself differ from those in humans.

Overall our study revealed that lymphatic vessels are an active player in the progression of atherosclerosis and they can be seen as a potential target for clinically relevant treatments of atherosclerosis.

Study III: Intestinal lymphatic vessels need constant VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway signaling for maintenance and function

Already more than a decade ago it was shown that VEGF-C is indispensable for lymphatic vessel development (Karkkainen et al., 2004). VEGF-C driven pathological lymphangiogenesis has been under profound investigation especially in the field of lymphedema and cancer metastasis research, where VEGF-C or its inhibition may provide possibilities for disease therapy (Alitalo, 2011). However attempts to understand the role of VEGF-C expression in quiescent tissues have not been made to the same degree, mainly because tools for this have been lacking. One of the main tasks of lymphatic vessels is the lipid absorption from the gut. This task is carried out by special blind-ended capillaries, called lacteals, which differs from the other lymphatic capillaries, for example in their junctions, which are zipper-like (Bernier-Latmani et al., 2015; Choe et al., 2015). Lacteals are located in the villus, the epithelial cell covered extension in the intestinal wall, where they are covered by blood capillary network (Kamba et al., 2006). The entering of the chylomicron particles in the lacteals has been shown to use both paracellular and transport meditated delivery strategies (Dixon, 2010). In this decade there have been reports about unexpected function of lymphatic vessels in the homeostasis. We generated the conditional Cre-Lox Vegfc mouse to address the question about the role of VEGF-C in adult tissues (Aspelund et al., 2014). In this study, we wanted to clarify the role of Vegfc in adult mice, especially in the gut, where lymphatic vessels are under constant stress because of active nutrient absorption (Dixon, 2010).

We first showed that the *Vegfc* targeted conditional alleles are effectively deleted pre- and postnatally in the intestine used as the model organ. Our findings showed that developing lymphatic vessels are dependent on VEGF-C in all stages of their development. The surprising finding however was that the intestinal lymphatic vessels, both lacteals and the vessel plexus in the intestinal wall, goes through atrophy when *Vegfc* expression is eliminated in the adult and this phenotype was aggravated in the *Vegfd* deficient background (Figure 1, III and Figure 3). The atrophy was restricted to the initial lymphatic vessels of the gut and it did not occur for example in the skin even after prolonged deletion periods.

TAMOXIFEN at 2 months of age. Analysis 1-6 months later



Figure 3. VEGF-C is required for intestinal lymphatic vessel maintenance in adult mice. A-H) Lymphatic vessels staining with LYVE1 after global *Vegfc* deletion in the intestinal wall of adult mice. Detailed information about genotypes and deletion durations are provided in Study III. I) Quantification of LYVE1 areas in A–H. Duration of the *Vegfc* deletion is indicated in months (mo), and *Vegfd* indicates the VEGF-D genotype. Scale bar 400 μ m. Data are represented as mean +/- SEM. *P > 0.05 vs. WT.

Dynamic control of the lymphatic vessel maintenance in the gut was later confirmed by using a *Dll4* conditional mouse model, where lacteals start to regress in adult mice after lymphatic vessel specific *Dll4* deletion (Bernier-Latmani et al., 2015). The simultaneous finding from our group indicates that *Vegfr3* deletion in adult tissues reduces lymphatic vessel caliper in the skin and trachea (Zarkada et al., 2015) suggests that lymphatic vessel signaling mechanism differ between different organs. This finding is important regarding the possible clinical applications, as it emphasizes the consideration of how different vascular plexuses behave under inhibition of the VEGF-C/VEGFR3 signaling pathway.

A second important finding was that in adult animals, Vegfc expression is restricted to the smooth muscle cell compartment (Figure 2, III). Previous Vegfc expression studies have been carried out only in embryos (Karkkainen et al., 2004; Le Bras et al., 2006), and this was the first time that we were able to locate the exact source of VEGF-C expression in the gut. The intestinal lymphatic vessel atrophy was a slow process and by itself did not affect the overall well-being of the mouse, despite the fact that the intestinal lymphatic vessels have a crucial role in fat absorption from the gut. We challenged these mice with HFD and observed that the weight gain of the Vegfc deficient mice was slower and their obesity related metabolic parameters were improved when compared to their littermates, which have normal lymphatic vessels. An obvious consequence of the lymphatic phenotype was that the cholesterol and free fatty acid levels in the stools were increased because of their impaired absorption in the gut (Figure 3, III). Lacteal shortening and intestinal wall lymphatic vessel diminution were shown to be crucial for proper lipid absorption, however we could not exclude additional effects of the VEGF-C in the intestine. To our surprise, lipid accumulation was not observed in the intestinal stroma, suggesting a signaling mechanism that regulates lipid uptake to enterocytes. adjusting it to further transport level inside the intestinal villus.

These findings as such highlight the differences between lymphatic vessels in different parts of the body and on the other hand raise the question of the pathophysiology of the intestinal lymphatic vessels. It has been shown in mouse models that inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) affects the gut lymphatic vessels and by blocking expansion of these vessels via interrupting the VEGF-C signaling the symptoms become more severe (D'Alessio et al., 2014). The role of lymphatic vessel expansion during IBD was described already decades ago (Van Kruiningen and Colombel, 2008), but comprehensive understanding has been lacking about the molecular dynamics underlying this event.

Additional studies are required to reveal how vascular growth factors and intestinal lymphatic vessels are involved in gut homeostasis and in the pathological process beyond nutrient absorption.

Study IV: VEGF-C functions in embryonic erythropoiesis

Twenty years ago, it was shown that especially VEGF (Ferrara et al., 1996) and VEGFR-2 (Shalaby et al., 1995) are essential in the early steps of hematopoiesis development. In mammals there are three waves of hematopoiesis, namely the primitive, transient and definitive stages (Tober et al., 2007) and a host of factors regulate these processes (Palis, 2014). However open questions still remain in the regulation mechanisms that influence the primitive blood cell migration, proliferation and differentiation in several hematopoietic sites in the developing embryo. In mouse embryos, constitutive Vegfc deletion causes embryonic lethal phenotype around E16 (Karkkainen et al., 2004). Heterozygous Vegfc mice survive, but not in Mendelian ratio or in all backgrounds, for example in the C57BI/6 background for unknown reason (Karkkainen et al., 2004). Our aim was to clarify if Vegfc has other necessary functions during embryogenesis beyond the lymphatic vessel development. By using a Cre-Lox conditional Vegfc mouse (Aspelund et al., 2014) we tackled this question by inducing Vegfc deletion as early as on embryonic day (E) 7.5 in the C57bl/6 background.

Besides an evident edema phenotype, we observed a tremendous decrease in liver size by day E13.5, which was further found to occur because of decreased erythropoiesis involving increased apoptosis of erythrocytes and their supporting macrophages (Figure 1, IV and Figure 4). When we analyze the peripheral blood of these embryos, we detected increased amounts of nucleated red blood cells in the circulation and overall signs of immature erythropoiesis (Figure 2, IV). This was later confirmed with the aid of flow cytometry and qPCR analysis (Figure 3 IV). These findings were similar to observations regarding the impairment of erythropoiesis shown previously in CCBE1 (Zou et al., 2013) and ADAMTS3 (Janssen et al., 2016) deleted mice. Both of these molecules are actively involved in the proteolytic processing of VEGF-C (Aspelund et al., 2016).

By using the conditional Vegfc deletion, we next investigated the sensitive time period when Vegfc is required for normal erythropoiesis. To our surprise we did not observe deficient erythropoiesis when *Vegfc* deletion was induced at E10.5 or later. Further, our investigation showed that VEGF-C has a crucial role in

fetal liver colonization of the erythroid-myeloid progenitors (EMPs) and later, in the expansion of the macrophage population in the liver (Figure 4, IV). It has been previously reported that $\alpha 4\beta 1$ and $\alpha 5\beta 1$ integrins are important for erythropoiesis (Eshghi et al., 2007; Ulyanova et al., 2011). Our data indicated that $\alpha 4$ integrin levels were reduced in erythromyeloid progenitors (EMPs) after VEGF-C deletion.



Figure 4. Decreased fetal liver size after global deletion of Vegfc at E7.5. A-B) Representative images of embryos and their livers at E13.5 and E15.5 after global Vegfc deletion ($Vc^{i\Delta R26}$) at E7.5.

We summarized our findings in a model in which VEGF-C regulation of erythropoiesis happens in a yolk sac, in embryonic blood circulation, and later in the fetal liver. Vegfc acts via influencing α 4 integrin levels and fetal liver colonization of EMPs, and, later on, erythrocyte maturation (Figure 5, IV). Taken together, our data indicate that *Vegfc* is a major regulator in fetal erythropoiesis, but not in adult erythropoiesis in homeostatic conditions. Further studies are required to determine whether the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 signaling pathway regulates the bone marrow stem cell niche in the adult mouse. These studies will require specific experiments that challenge the bone marrow, as it is the main regulator of blood cell production in adult animals.

These findings revealed an unexpected role of the VEGF-C in the regulation of embryonic erythropoiesis. It has not earlier been shown that this molecule, which is responsible for lymphatic vessel expansion during development (Karkkainen et al., 2004) has such an important role in blood cell formation. The signaling cascade behind this event was surprising, as it seems to indicate a rather minor role of the well-known VEGF-C-VEGFR2/VEGFR3 pathway in this process. A scheduled deletion scheme enabled this investigation, and it might

be that more precise investigation of the VEGFR2/VEGFR3 pathway will pinpoint some similarities regarding the erythropoiesis phenotype.

In adult animals, erythropoiesis is restricted mainly to the bone marrow. Further investigation is required to analyze the possible role of VEGF-C in hematopoietic stem cell regulation under hematopoietic stress.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Studies described in this thesis have deepened our knowledge regarding the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway in embryo development and pathological conditions. Previously it was well established that VEGF-C is necessary for lymphatic vessel development (Karkkainen et al., 2004) and that VEGFR-3 is necessary for normal embryonic blood vessel development even prior its function in lymphatic vessel growth (Dumont et al., 1998). Findings reported in this thesis have brought new insights to the essential functions of VEGF-C and VEGFR-3.

In the first study of this dissertation, we show how VEGFR-3 is a critical modulator of normal angiogenesis during developmental angiogenesis and in the last study we show that VEGF-C has a previously unidentified role in the regulation of the embryonic erythropoiesis. Both of these studies revealed new and previously unknown roles of these molecules during development. These findings expand our view in terms of the basic research and the new information might turn out to be later useful for clinical therapeutics development. Targeting VEGFR-3 in pathological angiogenesis may be advantageous compared with targeting the traditional VEGF/VEGFR-2 pathway, which strongly affects healthy and normal blood vessels by e.g. increasing leakage. The VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 axis may have important functions in the pathogenesis of obesity and cardiovascular disease. The second study of this dissertation highlights the role of lymphatic vessels in the formation of atheromas. Based on these results, the deficiency on the lymphatic vessel function enhances atherosclerosis. This brings up the question for the possible medical opportunities to increase lymphatic vessel function to prevent the plaque formation or even to reduce already existing plagues. We could also show that constant VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 signaling is needed for proper lipid absorption from the intestine. When interruption occurs in the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway. lipid absorption is decreased by the atrophy that develops in the intestinal lymphatic vessels. Further studies are required for better understanding of how lymphatic vessels and the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway contribute also to intestinal inflammation.

These results have increased our understanding of the functions of lymphangiogenic growth factors. Especially Studies II, III, and IV have revealed previously unknown interactions and phenomena requiring further investigations to gain a comprehensive overview of the role of the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 signaling pathway in these biological incidents.

My humble wish is that these findings will benefit the research community and eventually the well-being of human patients with various diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was carried out during 2009-2016 in the Translational Cancer Biology Laboratory/Program, which is a part of the Research Program Unit at the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, Finland.

I am deeply grateful to my supervisor, Professor Kari Alitalo of the Finnish Academy of Sciences, for providing me with the opportunity to work in his laboratory and for his constant support throughout the thesis process. His never-ending interest in new findings and contagious enthusiasm for challenges create an atmosphere that truly drives young scientists to achieve (almost) impossible goals. The infrastructure created by Professor Alitalo is unique in Finland and it enabled the high-quality *in vivo* studies included here.

Professors Päivi Ojala and Timo Otonkoski from the University of Helsinki are kindly acknowledged for their participation in my thesis committee. Professor Klaus Elenius from the University of Turku and Professor Juha Partanen from the University of Helsinki are thanked for reviewing and commenting on the manuscript of this thesis. Carol Ann Pelli is thanked for editing the language of this thesis. The Doctoral Program of Biomedicine and its current and past directors have provided a multitude of training opportunities, for which I am most grateful.

I have been privileged to work with several excellent scientists. I thank Dr. Tuomas Tammela for trusting in my abilities to work in this laboratory and for bringing me into this exciting project. I owe a debt of gratitude to my first really hands-on supervisor Dr. Georgia Zarkada for showing me what it means to work in a top-quality scientific environment. I thank Dr. Wei Zheng for his unbelievable patience in creating new techniques that have been useful for the whole laboratory and especially for me.

There are two scientists who have been irreplaceable during my thesis project. Dr. Marius Robciuc joined the lab in 2012 and became my close collaborator. His enthusiasm and never-ending passion for research have greatly influenced me. Another exceptional scientist is Dr. Shentong Fang, who introduced me to a previously unfamiliar field. Her dedication to science is extremely high, setting an example for others. I warmly thank both of these scientists for their contributions to this thesis and especially for excellent collaboration.

In the past eight years, I have worked with numerous researchers who have influenced this thesis. I acknowledge all co-authors in our laboratory, in the University of Eastern Finland, and in other universities in Finland and abroad. I am extremely grateful to all past and current members of the Alitalo laboratory for creating an environment where scientific thinking can flourish.

This work would have not been possible without professional technical help from our own skilled laboratory engineers and technicians led by laboratory manager Tapio Tainola. I thank all of you for making my life much easier. I acknowledge the Biomedicum Imaging Unit (BIU) for providing imaging equipment and helpful personnel. I thank the Laboratory Animal Center for taking excellent care of the experimental mice. I have been financially supported by personal grants from the following foundations: Ida Montin Foundation, Biomedicum Helsinki Foundation, Paolo Foundation, Orion Research Foundation, and Finnish Cultural Foundation. The Doctoral Program of Biomedicine and the Leducq Foundation have also provided funding via the University of Helsinki.

I thank my boys, my friends, and my band of brothers for cheering me up when I have felt defeated and for joining the celebration when science has been fruitful. My mother and father have supported me in every step I've taken in life, even though I am not sure they really know what I have been doing in the past eight years. From them, I have learned that you need to work hard to achieve something. I thank you both for that. I also thank my sister's family, my other friends and relatives, and the Koskinen clan for support on this bumpy road.

There is one person I cannot thank enough, the brave woman who shares her life with me, my dear Eeva. During this project I have encountered several obstacles that would not have been overcome without your constant support. All of the patience and foresight that you have shown during this project have made me understand what it means to have someone stand beside you no matter what. I just hope that I can provide you with the same steadfastness and security now and always.

JOG NATAN

Helsinki, April 2017

REFERENCES

- Aase, K., A. Lymboussaki, A. Kaipainen, B. Olofsson, K. Alitalo, and U. Eriksson. 1999. Localization of VEGF-B in the mouse embryo suggests a paracrine role of the growth factor in the developing vasculature. *Dev Dyn*. 215:12-25.
- Aase, K., G. von Euler, X. Li, A. Ponten, P. Thoren, R. Cao, Y. Cao, B. Olofsson, S. Gebre-Medhin, M. Pekny, K. Alitalo, C. Betsholtz, and U. Eriksson. 2001. Vascular endothelial growth factor-Bdeficient mice display an atrial conduction defect. *Circulation*. 104:358-364.
- Achen, M.G., M. Jeltsch, E. Kukk, T. Makinen, A. Vitali, A.F. Wilks, K. Alitalo, and S.A. Stacker. 1998. Vascular endothelial growth factor D (VEGF-D) is a ligand for the tyrosine kinases VEGF receptor 2 (Flk1) and VEGF receptor 3 (Flt4). *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*. 95:548-553.
- Alders, M., B.M. Hogan, E. Gjini, F. Salehi, L. Al-Gazali, E.A. Hennekam, E.E. Holmberg, M.M. Mannens, M.F. Mulder, G.J. Offerhaus, T.E. Prescott, E.J. Schroor, J.B. Verheij, M. Witte, P.J. Zwijnenburg, M. Vikkula, S. Schulte-Merker, and R.C. Hennekam. 2009. Mutations in CCBE1 cause generalized lymph vessel dysplasia in humans. *Nat Genet*. 41:1272-1274.
- Alitalo, K. 2011. The lymphatic vasculature in disease. Nat Med. 17:1371-1380.
- Alon, T., I. Hemo, A. Itin, J. Pe'er, J. Stone, and E. Keshet. 1995. Vascular endothelial growth factor acts as a survival factor for newly formed retinal vessels and has implications for retinopathy of prematurity. *Nature Med.* 1:1024-1028.
- Anisimov, A., A. Alitalo, P. Korpisalo, J. Soronen, S. Kaijalainen, V.M. Leppanen, M. Jeltsch, S. Yla-Herttuala, and K. Alitalo. 2009. Activated forms of VEGF-C and VEGF-D provide improved vascular function in skeletal muscle. *Circ Res.* 104:1302-1312.
- Armulik, A., G. Genove, and C. Betsholtz. 2011. Pericytes: developmental, physiological, and pathological perspectives, problems, and promises. *Dev Cell*. 21:193-215.
- Aspelund, A., S. Antila, S.T. Proulx, T.V. Karlsen, S. Karaman, M. Detmar, H. Wiig, and K. Alitalo. 2015. A dural lymphatic vascular system that drains brain interstitial fluid and macromolecules. J Exp Med. 212:991-999.
- Aspelund, A., M.R. Robciuc, S. Karaman, T. Makinen, and K. Alitalo. 2016. Lymphatic System in Cardiovascular Medicine. *Circ Res.* 118:515-530.
- Aspelund, A., T. Tammela, S. Antila, H. Nurmi, V.M. Leppanen, G. Zarkada, L. Stanczuk, M. Francois, T. Makinen, P. Saharinen, I. Immonen, and K. Alitalo. 2014. The Schlemm's canal is a VEGF-C/VEGFR-3-responsive lymphatic-like vessel. *J Clin Invest*. 124:3975-3986.
- Augustin, H.G., G.Y. Koh, G. Thurston, and K. Alitalo. 2009. Control of vascular morphogenesis and homeostasis through the angiopoietin-Tie system. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 10:165-177.
- Avantaggiato, V., M. Orlandini, D. Acampora, S. Oliviero, and A. Simeone. 1998. Embryonic expression pattern of the murine figf gene, a growth factor belonging to platelet-derived growth factor/vascular endothelial growth factor family. *Mech. Dev.* 73:221-224.
- Baldwin, M.E., M.M. Halford, S. Roufail, R.A. Williams, M.L. Hibbs, D. Grail, H. Kubo, S.A. Stacker, and M.G. Achen. 2005. Vascular endothelial growth factor D is dispensable for development of the lymphatic system. *Mol Cell Biol*. 25:2441-2449.
- Baldwin, M.E., S. Roufail, M.M. Halford, K. Alitalo, S.A. Stacker, and M.G. Achen. 2001. Multiple forms of mouse vascular endothelial growth factor-D are generated by RNA splicing and proteolysis. J Biol Chem. 276:44307-44314.
- Baluk, P., J. Fuxe, H. Hashizume, T. Romano, E. Lashnits, S. Butz, D. Vestweber, M. Corada, C. Molendini, E. Dejana, and D.M. McDonald. 2007. Functionally specialized junctions between endothelial cells of lymphatic vessels. J Exp Med. 204:2349-2362.
- Baluk, P., T. Tammela, E. Ator, N. Lyubynska, M.G. Achen, D.J. Hicklin, M. Jeltsch, T.V. Petrova, B. Pytowski, S.A. Stacker, S. Yla-Herttuala, D.G. Jackson, K. Alitalo, and D.M. McDonald. 2005. Pathogenesis of persistent lymphatic vessel hyperplasia in chronic airway inflammation. J Clin Invest. 115:247-257.
- Batard, P., P. Sansilvestri, C. Scheinecker, W. Knapp, N. Debili, W. Vainchenker, H.J. Buhring, M.N. Monier, E. Kukk, J. Partanen, M.T. Matikainen, R. Alitalo, J. Hatzfeld, and K. Alitalo. 1996. The Tie receptor tyrosine kinase is expressed by human hematopoietic progenitor cells and by a subset of megakaryocytic cells. *Blood*. 87:2212-2220.
- Bazigou, E., O.T. Lyons, A. Smith, G.E. Venn, C. Cope, N.A. Brown, and T. Makinen. 2011. Genes regulating lymphangiogenesis control venous valve formation and maintenance in mice. J Clin Invest. 121:2984-2992.
- Bazigou, E., and T. Makinen. 2013. Flow control in our vessels: vascular valves make sure there is no way back. Cell Mol Life Sci. 70:1055-1066.
- Becker, F., E. Kurmaeva, F.N. Gavins, E.V. Stevenson, A.R. Navratil, L. Jin, I. Tsunoda, A.W. Orr, J.S. Alexander, and D.V. Ostanin. 2016. A Critical Role for Monocytes/Macrophages During Intestinal Inflammation-associated Lymphangiogenesis. *Inflammatory bowel diseases*. 22:1326-1345.
- Benedito, R., C. Roca, I. Sorensen, S. Adams, A. Gossler, M. Fruttiger, and R.H. Adams. 2009. The notch ligands Dll4 and Jagged1 have opposing effects on angiogenesis. *Cell*. 137:1124-1135.
- Benedito, R., S.F. Rocha, M. Woeste, M. Zamykal, F. Radtke, O. Casanovas, A. Duarte, B. Pytowski, and R.H. Adams. 2012. Notch-dependent VEGFR3 upregulation allows angiogenesis without VEGF-VEGFR2 signalling. *Nature*. 484:110-114.

- Benjamin, L.E., D. Golijanin, A. Itin, D. Pode, and E. Keshet. 1999. Selective ablation of immature blood vessels in established human tumors follows vascular endothelial growth factor withdrawal. J Clin Invest. 103:159-165.
- Benjamin, L.E., and E. Keshet. 1997. Conditional switching of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression in tumors: induction of endothelial cell shedding and regression of hemangioblastomalike vessels by VEGF withdrawal. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*. 94:8761-8766.
- Bernier-Latmani, J., C. Cisarovsky, C.S. Demir, M. Bruand, M. Jaquet, S. Davanture, S. Ragusa, S. Siegert, O. Dormond, R. Benedito, F. Radtke, S.A. Luther, and T.V. Petrova. 2015. DLL4 promotes continuous adult intestinal lacteal regeneration and dietary fat transport. *J Clin Invest.* 125:4572-4586.
- Bhardwaj, S., H. Roy, M. Gruchala, H. Viita, I. Kholova, I. Kokina, M.G. Achen, S.A. Stacker, M. Hedman, K. Alitalo, and S. Yla-Herttuala. 2003. Angiogenic responses of vascular endothelial growth factors in periadventitial tissue. *Hum Gene Ther*. 14:1451-1462.
- Bock, F., K. Maruyama, B. Regenfuss, D. Hos, P. Steven, L.M. Heindl, and C. Cursiefen. 2013. Novel anti(lymph)angiogenic treatment strategies for corneal and ocular surface diseases. *Progress in retinal and eye research*. 34:89-124.
- Bos, F.L., M. Caunt, J. Peterson-Maduro, L. Planas-Paz, J. Kowalski, T. Karpanen, A. van Impel, R. Tong, J.A. Ernst, J. Korving, J.H. van Es, E. Lammert, H.J. Duckers, and S. Schulte-Merker. 2011. CCBE1 is essential for mammalian lymphatic vascular development and enhances the lymphangiogenic effect of vascular endothelial growth factor-C in vivo. *Circ Res.* 109:486-491.
- Brice, G., S. Mansour, R. Bell, J.R. Collin, A.H. Child, A.F. Brady, M. Sarfarazi, K.G. Burnand, S. Jeffery, P. Mortimer, and V.A. Murday. 2002. Analysis of the phenotypic abnormalities in lymphoedemadistichiasis syndrome in 74 patients with FOXC2 mutations or linkage to 16q24. *J Med Genet*. 39:478-483.
- Brouillard, P., L. Boon, and M. Vikkula. 2014. Genetics of lymphatic anomalies. J Clin Invest. 124:898-904.
- Bry, M., R. Kivela, T. Holopainen, A. Anisimov, T. Tammela, J. Soronen, J. Silvola, A. Saraste, M. Jeltsch, P. Korpisalo, P. Carmeliet, K.B. Lemstrom, M. Shibuya, S. Yla-Herttuala, L. Alhonen, E. Mervaala, L.C. Andersson, J. Knuuti, and K. Alitalo. 2010. Vascular endothelial growth factor-B acts as a coronary growth factor in transgenic rats without inducing angiogenesis, vascular leak, or inflammation. *Circulation*. 122:1725-1733.
- Bui, H.M., D. Enis, M.R. Robciuc, H.J. Nurmi, J. Cohen, M. Chen, Y. Yang, V. Dhillon, K. Johnson, H. Zhang, R. Kirkpatrick, E. Traxler, A. Anisimov, K. Alitalo, and M.L. Kahn. 2016. Proteolytic activation defines distinct lymphangiogenic mechanisms for VEGFC and VEGFD. J Clin Invest.
- Byzova, T.V., C.K. Goldman, J. Jankau, J. Chen, G. Cabrera, M.G. Achen, S.A. Stacker, K.A. Carnevale, M. Siemionow, S.R. Deitcher, and P.E. DiCorleto. 2002. Adenovirus encoding vascular endothelial growth factor-D induces tissue-specific vascular patterns in vivo. *Blood*. 99:4434-4442.
- Cai, J., E. Pardali, G. Sanchez-Duffhues, and P. ten Dijke. 2012. BMP signaling in vascular diseases. *FEBS Lett.* 586:1993-2002.
- Carmeliet, P., V. Ferreira, G. Breier, S. Pollefeyt, L. Kieckens, M. Gertsenstein, M. Fahrig, A. Vandenhoeck, K. Harpal, C. Ebenhardt, C. Declercq, J. Pawling, L. Moons, D. Collen, W. Risau, and A. Nagy. 1996. Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. *Nature*. 380:435-439.
- Carmeliet, P., L. Moons, A. Luttun, V. Vincenti, V. Compernolle, M. De Mol, Y. Wu, F. Bono, L. Devy, H. Beck, D. Scholz, T. Acker, T. DiPalma, M. Dewerchin, A. Noel, I. Stalmans, A. Barra, S. Blacher, T. Vandendriessche, A. Ponten, U. Eriksson, K.H. Plate, J.M. Foidart, W. Schaper, D.S. Charnock-Jones, D.J. Hicklin, J.M. Herbert, D. Collen, and M.G. Persico. 2001. Synergism between vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor contributes to angiogenesis and plasma extravasation in pathological conditions. *Nat Med.* 7:575-583.
- Chen, H., A. Chedotal, Z. He, C.S. Goodman, and M. Tessier-Lavigne. 1997. Neuropilin-2, a novel member of the neuropilin family, is a high affinity receptor for the semaphorins Sema E and Sema IV but not Sema III. *Neuron*. 19:547-559.
- Chen, H.I., A. Poduri, H. Numi, R. Kivela, P. Saharinen, A.S. McKay, B. Raftrey, J. Churko, X. Tian, B. Zhou, J.C. Wu, K. Alitalo, and K. Red-Horse. 2014a. VEGF-C and aortic cardiomyocytes guide coronary artery stem development. *J Clin Invest*. 124:4899-4914.
- Chen, H.I., B. Sharma, B.N. Akerberg, H.J. Numi, R. Kivela, P. Saharinen, H. Aghajanian, A.S. McKay, P.E. Bogard, A.H. Chang, A.H. Jacobs, J.A. Epstein, K. Stankunas, K. Alitalo, and K. Red-Horse. 2014b. The sinus venosus contributes to coronary vasculature through VEGFC-stimulated angiogenesis. *Development*. 141:4500-4512.
- Choe, K., J.Y. Jang, I. Park, Y. Kim, S. Ahn, D.Y. Park, Y.K. Hong, K. Alitalo, G.Y. Koh, and P. Kim. 2015. Intravital imaging of intestinal lacteals unveils lipid drainage through contractility. *J Clin Invest.* 125:4042-4052.
- Chong, D.C., Y. Koo, K. Xu, S. Fu, and O. Cleaver. 2011. Stepwise arteriovenous fate acquisition during mammalian vasculogenesis. *Dev Dyn*. 240:2153-2165.
- Chung, A.S., and N. Ferrara. 2011. Developmental and pathological angiogenesis. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol.* 27:563-584.
- Cines, D.B., E.S. Pollak, C.A. Buck, J. Loscalzo, G.A. Zimmerman, R.P. McEver, J.S. Pober, T.M. Wick, B.A. Konkle, B.S. Schwartz, E.S. Barnathan, K.R. McCrae, B.A. Hug, A.M. Schmidt, and D.M. Stern. 1998. Endothelial cells in physiology and in the pathophysiology of vascular disorders. *Blood*. 91:3527-3561.

- Claxton, S., V. Kostourou, S. Jadeja, P. Chambon, K. Hodivala-Dilke, and M. Fruttiger. 2008. Efficient, inducible Cre-recombinase activation in vascular endothelium. *Genesis*. 46:74-80.
- Compernolle, V., K. Brusselmans, T. Acker, P. Hoet, M. Tjwa, H. Beck, S. Plaisance, Y. Dor, E. Keshet, F. Lupu, B. Nemery, M. Dewerchin, P. Van Veldhoven, K. Plate, L. Moons, D. Collen, and P. Carmeliet. 2002. Loss of HIF-2alpha and inhibition of VEGF impair fetal lung maturation, whereas treatment with VEGF prevents fatal respiratory distress in premature mice. *Nat Med.* 8:702-710.
- Connell, F.C., K. Gordon, G. Brice, V. Keeley, S. Jeffery, P.S. Mortimer, S. Mansour, and P. Ostergaard. 2013. The classification and diagnostic algorithm for primary lymphatic dysplasia: an update from 2010 to include molecular findings. *Clin Genet.* 84:303-314.
- Cursiefen, C., L. Chen, M. Saint-Geniez, P. Hamrah, Y. Jin, S. Rashid, B. Pytowski, K. Persaud, Y. Wu, J.W. Streilein, and R. Dana. 2006. Nonvascular VEGF receptor 3 expression by corneal epithelium maintains avascularity and vision. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 103:11405-11410.
- D'Alessio, S., C. Correale, C. Tacconi, A. Gandelli, G. Pietrogrande, S. Vetrano, M. Genua, V. Arena, A. Spinelli, L. Peyrin-Biroulet, C. Fiocchi, and S. Danese. 2014. VEGF-C-dependent stimulation of lymphatic function ameliorates experimental inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Invest. 124:3863-3878.
- D'Amico, G., E.A. Korhonen, A. Anisimov, G. Zarkada, T. Holopainen, R. Hagerling, F. Kiefer, L. Eklund, R. Sormunen, H. Elamaa, R.A. Brekken, R.H. Adams, G.Y. Koh, P. Saharinen, and K. Alitalo. 2014. Tie1 deletion inhibits tumor growth and improves angiopoietin antagonist therapy. *J Clin Invest*. 124:824-834.
- de Boer, J., A. Williams, G. Skavdis, N. Harker, M. Coles, M. Tolaini, T. Norton, K. Williams, K. Roderick, A.J. Potocnik, and D. Kioussis. 2003. Transgenic mice with hematopoietic and lymphoid specific expression of Cre. *European journal of immunology*. 33:314-325.
- De Falco, S. 2012. The discovery of placenta growth factor and its biological activity. *Experimental & molecular medicine*. 44:1-9.
- de Vries, C., J.A. Escobedo, H. Ueno, K. Houck, N. Ferrara, and L.T. Williams. 1992. The fms-like tyrosine kinase, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Science*. 255:989-991.
- Detmar, M., L.F. Brown, M.P. Schon, B.M. Elicker, P. Velasco, L. Richard, D. Fukumura, W. Monsky, K.P. Claffey, and R.K. Jain. 1998. Increased microvascular density and enhanced leukocyte rolling and adhesion in the skin of VEGF transgenic mice. J Invest Dermatol. 111:1-6.
- Dixelius, J., T. Makinen, M. Wirzenius, M.J. Karkkainen, C. Wernstedt, K. Alitalo, and L. Claesson-Welsh. 2003. Ligand-induced vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 (VEGFR-3) heterodimerization with VEGFR-2 in primary lymphatic endothelial cells regulates tyrosine phosphorylation sites. J Biol Chem. 278:40973-40979.
- Dixon, J.B. 2010. Lymphatic lipid transport: sewer or subway? *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM*. 21:480-487.
- Djonov, V., M. Schmid, S.A. Tschanz, and P.H. Burri. 2000. Intussusceptive angiogenesis: its role in embryonic vascular network formation. *Circ Res.* 86:286-292.
- Doerr, C.H., M.S. Allen, F.C. Nichols, 3rd, and J.H. Ryu. 2005. Etiology of chylothorax in 203 patients. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 80:867-870.
- Dongaonkar, R.M., G.A. Laine, R.H. Stewart, and C.M. Quick. 2009. Balance point characterization of interstitial fluid volume regulation. *American journal of physiology. Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology*. 297:R6-16.
- Dumont, D.J., G.-H. Fong, M. Puri, G. Gradwohl, K. Alitalo, and M.L. Breitman. 1995. Vascularization of the mouse embryo: a study of *flk-1, tek, tie* and VEGF expression during development. *Mech. Dev.* 203:80-92.
- Dumont, D.J., G. Gradwohl, G.-H. Fong, M.C. Puri, M. Gertsenstein, A. Auerbach, and M.L. Breitman. 1994. Dominant-negative and targeted null mutations in the endothelial receptor tyrosine kinase, *tek*, reveal a critical role in vasculogenesis of the embryo. *Genes Dev.* 8:1897-1909.
- Dumont, D.J., L. Jussila, J. Taipale, A. Lymboussaki, T. Mustonen, K. Pajusola, M. Breitman, and K. Alitalo. 1998. Cardiovascular failure in mouse embryos deficient in VEGF receptor-3. *Science*. 282:946-949.
- Dumont, D.J., T.P. Yamaguchi, R.A. Conlon, J. Rossant, and M.L. Breitman. 1992. *Tek*, a novel tyrosine kinase gene located on mouse chromosome 4, is expressed in endothelial cells and their presumptive precursors. *Oncogene*. 7:1471-1480.
- Duong, T., K. Koltowska, C. Pichol-Thievend, L. Le Guen, F. Fontaine, K.A. Smith, V. Truong, R. Skoczylas, S.A. Stacker, M.G. Achen, P. Koopman, B.M. Hogan, and M. Francois. 2014. VEGFD regulates blood vascular development by modulating SOX18 activity. *Blood*. 123:1102-1112.
- Dvorak, H.F., L.F. Brown, M. Detmar, and A.M. Dvorak. 1995. Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor, microvascular hyperpermeability, and angiogenesis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 146:1029-1039.
- Eklund, L., and P. Saharinen. 2013. Angiopoietin signaling in the vasculature. *Exp Cell Res.* 319:1271-1280.
- Enholm, B., T. Karpanen, M. Jeltsch, H. Kubo, F. Stenback, R. Prevo, D.G. Jackson, S. Yla-Herttuala, and K. Alitalo. 2001. Adenoviral expression of vascular endothelial growth factor-C induces lymphangiogenesis in the skin. *Circ Res.* 88:623-629.
- Escobedo, N., S.T. Proulx, S. Karaman, M.E. Dillard, N. Johnson, M. Detmar, and G. Oliver. 2016. Restoration of lymphatic function rescues obesity in Prox1-haploinsufficient mice. *JCI Insight*. 1.

- Eshghi, S., M.G. Vogelezang, R.O. Hynes, L.G. Griffith, and H.F. Lodish. 2007. Alpha4beta1 integrin and erythropoietin mediate temporally distinct steps in erythropoiesis: integrins in red cell development. *J Cell Biol.* 177:871-880.
- Ferrara, N., K. Carver-Moore, H. Chen, M. Dowd, L. Lu, K.S. O'Shea, L. Powell-Braxton, K.J. Hilan, and M.W. Moore. 1996. Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. *Nature*. 380:438-442.
- Ferrara, N., and W.J. Henzel. 1989. Pituitary follicular cells secrete a novel heparin-binding growth factor specific for vascular endothelial cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 161:851-855.
- Fiedler, U., M. Scharpfenecker, S. Koidl, A. Hegen, V. Grunow, J.M. Schmidt, W. Kriz, G. Thurston, and H.G. Augustin. 2004. The Tie-2 ligand angiopoietin-2 is stored in and rapidly released upon stimulation from endothelial cell Weibel-Palade bodies. *Blood*. 103:4150-4156.
- Fong, G.-H., J. Rossant, M. Gertsenstein, and M.L. Breitman. 1995. Role of the FIt-1 receptor tyrosine kinase in regulating the assembly of vascular endothelium. *Nature*. 376:66-70.
- Fong, G.-H., L. Zhang, D.-M. Bryce, and J. Peng. 1999. Increased hemangioblast commitment, not vascular disorganization, is the primary defect in fit-1 knock-out mice. *Development*. 126:3015-3025.
- Freitas-Andrade, M., P. Carmeliet, C. Charlebois, D.B. Stanimirovic, and M.J. Moreno. 2012. PIGF knockout delays brain vessel growth and maturation upon systemic hypoxic challenge. *Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*. 32:663-675.
- Fuh, G., K.C. Garcia, and A.M. de Vos. 2000. The interaction of neuropilin-1 with vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptor flt-1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275:26690-26695.
- Fukuhara, S., K. Sako, T. Minami, K. Noda, H.Z. Kim, T. Kodama, M. Shibuya, N. Takakura, G.Y. Koh, and N. Mochizuki. 2008. Differential function of Tie2 at cell-cell contacts and cell-substratum contacts regulated by angiopoietin-1. *Nat Cell Biol.* 10:513-526.
- Furumoto, T.A., N. Miura, T. Akasaka, Y. Mizutani-Koseki, H. Sudo, K. Fukuda, M. Maekawa, S. Yuasa, Y. Fu, H. Moriya, M. Taniguchi, K. Imai, E. Dahl, R. Balling, M. Pavlova, A. Gossler, and H. Koseki. 1999. Notochord-dependent expression of MFH1 and PAX1 cooperates to maintain the proliferation of sclerotome cells during the vertebral column development. *Dev Biol.* 210:15-29.
- Gamble, J.R., J. Drew, L. Trezise, A. Underwood, M. Parsons, L. Kasminkas, J. Rudge, G. Yancopoulos, and M.A. Vadas. 2000. Angiopoietin-1 is an antipermeability and anti-inflammatory agent in vitro and targets cell junctions. *Circ. Res.* 87:603-607.
- Gerber, H.P., V. Dixit, and N. Ferrara. 1998a. Vascular endothelial growth factor induces expression of the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and A1 in vascular endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem*. 273:13313-13316.
- Gerber, H.P., A. McMurtrey, J. Kowalski, M. Yan, B.A. Keyt, V. Dixit, and N. Ferrara. 1998b. Vascular endothelial growth factor regulates endothelial cell survival through the phosphatidylinositol 3'kinase/Akt signal transduction pathway. Requirement for Flk-1/KDR activation. J. Biol. Chem. 273:30336-30343.
- Gerhardt, H., M. Golding, M. Fruttiger, C. Ruhrberg, A. Lundkvist, A. Abramsson, M. Jeltsch, C. Mitchell, K. Alitalo, D. Shima, and C. Betsholtz. 2003. VEGF guides angiogenic sprouting utilizing endothelial tip cell filopodia. J Cell Biol. 161:1163-1177.
- Gille, H., J. Kowalski, B. Li, J. LeCouter, B. Moffat, T.F. Zioncheck, N. Pelletier, and N. Ferrara. 2001. Analysis of biological effects and signaling properties of Flt-1 (VEGFR-1) and KDR (VEGFR-2). A reassessment using novel receptor-specific vascular endothelial growth factor mutants. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276:3222-3230.
- Gluzman-Poltorak, Z., T. Cohen, Y. Herzog, and G. Neufeld. 2000. Neuropilin-2 is a receptor for the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) forms VEGF-145 and VEGF-165. *J Biol Chem.* 275:29922.
- Gordon, E.J., S. Rao, J.W. Pollard, S.L. Nutt, R.A. Lang, and N.L. Harvey. 2010. Macrophages define dermal lymphatic vessel calibre during development by regulating lymphatic endothelial cell proliferation. *Development*. 137:3899-3910.
- Gordon, K., D. Schulte, G. Brice, M.A. Simpson, M.G. Roukens, A. van Impel, F. Connell, K. Kalidas, S. Jeffery, P.S. Mortimer, S. Mansour, S. Schulte-Merker, and P. Ostergaard. 2013. Mutation in vascular endothelial growth factor-C, a ligand for vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3, is associated with autosomal dominant milroy-like primary lymphedema. *Circ Res.* 112:956-960.
- Grimmond, S., J. Lagercrantz, C. Drinkwater, G. Silins, S. Townson, P. Pollock, D. Gotley, E. Carson, S. Rakar, M. Nordenskjold, L. Ward, N. Hayward, and G. Weber. 1996. Cloning and characterisation of a novel human gene related to vascular endothelial growth factor. *Genome Res.* 6:124-131.
- Grzegorek, I., K. Drozdz, M. Chmielewska, A. Gomulkiewicz, K. Jablonska, A. Piotrowska, M. Karczewski, D. Janczak, M. Podhorska-Okolow, P. Dziegiel, and A. Szuba. 2014. Arterial wall lymphangiogenesis is increased in the human iliac atherosclerotic arteries: involvement of CCR7 receptor. *Lymphat Res Biol.* 12:222-231.
- Hagberg, C.E., A. Falkevall, X. Wang, E. Larsson, J. Huusko, I. Nilsson, L.A. van Meeteren, E. Samen, L. Lu, M. Vanwildemeersch, J. Klar, G. Genove, K. Pietras, S. Stone-Elander, L. Claesson-Welsh, S. Yla-Herttuala, P. Lindahl, and U. Eriksson. 2010. Vascular endothelial growth factor B controls endothelial fatty acid uptake. *Nature*. 464:917-921.
- Hagberg, C.E., A. Mehlem, A. Falkevall, L. Muhl, B.C. Fam, H. Ortsater, P. Scotney, D. Nyqvist, E. Samen, L. Lu, S. Stone-Elander, J. Proietto, S. Andrikopoulos, A. Sjoholm, A. Nash, and U. Eriksson.
 2012. Targeting VEGF-B as a novel treatment for insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nature*. 490:426-430.

- Hagerling, R., C. Pollmann, M. Andreas, C. Schmidt, H. Nurmi, R.H. Adams, K. Alitalo, V. Andresen, S. Schulte-Merker, and F. Kiefer. 2013. A novel multistep mechanism for initial lymphangiogenesis in mouse embryos based on ultramicroscopy. *EMBO J.* 32:629-644.
- Haiko, P., T. Makinen, S. Keskitalo, J. Taipale, M.J. Karkkainen, M.E. Baldwin, S.A. Stacker, M.G. Achen, and K. Alitalo. 2008. Deletion of vascular endothelial growth factor C (VEGF-C) and VEGF-D is not equivalent to VEGF receptor 3 deletion in mouse embryos. *Mol Cell Biol.* 28:4843-4850.
- Hakanpaa, L., T. Sipila, V.M. Leppanen, P. Gautam, H. Nurmi, G. Jacquemet, L. Eklund, J. Ivaska, K. Alitalo, and P. Saharinen. 2015. Endothelial destabilization by angiopoietin-2 via integrin beta1 activation. *Nature communications*. 6:5962.
- Hamrah, P., L. Chen, C. Cursiefen, Q. Zhang, N.C. Joyce, and M.R. Dana. 2004. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 (VEGFR-3) on monocytic bone marrow-derived cells in the conjunctiva. *Experimental eye research*. 79:553-561.
- Harvey, N.L., R.S. Srinivasan, M.E. Dillard, N.C. Johnson, M.H. Witte, K. Boyd, M.W. Sleeman, and G. Oliver. 2005. Lymphatic vascular defects promoted by Prox1 haploinsufficiency cause adult-onset obesity. *Nat Genet*. 37:1072-1081.
- He, Y., T. Karpanen, and K. Alitalo. 2004. Role of lymphangiogenic factors in tumor metastasis. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1654:3-12.
- Hellstrom, M., L.K. Phng, J.J. Hofmann, E. Wallgard, L. Coultas, P. Lindblom, J. Alva, A.K. Nilsson, L. Karlsson, N. Gaiano, K. Yoon, J. Rossant, M.L. Iruela-Arispe, M. Kalen, H. Gerhardt, and C. Betsholtz. 2007. Dll4 signalling through Notch1 regulates formation of tip cells during angiogenesis. *Nature*. 445:776-780.
- Hess, P.R., D.R. Rawnsley, Z. Jakus, Y. Yang, D.T. Sweet, J. Fu, B. Herzog, M. Lu, B. Nieswandt, G. Oliver, T. Makinen, L. Xia, and M.L. Kahn. 2014. Platelets mediate lymphovenous hemostasis to maintain blood-lymphatic separation throughout life. J Clin Invest. 124:273-284.
- Hirakawa, S., L.F. Brown, S. Kodama, K. Paavonen, K. Alitalo, and M. Detmar. 2007. VEGF-C-induced lymphangiogenesis in sentinel lymph nodes promotes tumor metastasis to distant sites. *Blood*. 109:1010-1017.
- Hiratsuka, S., O. Minowa, J. Kuno, T. Noda, and M. Shibuya. 1998. FIt-1 lacking the tyrosine kinase domain is sufficient for normal development and angiogenesis in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 95:9349-9354.
- Holmborn, K., J. Ledin, E. Smeds, I. Eriksson, M. Kusche-Gullberg, and L. Kjellen. 2004. Heparan sulfate synthesized by mouse embryonic stem cells deficient in NDST1 and NDST2 is 6-O-sulfated but contains no N-sulfate groups. J Biol Chem. 279:42355-42358.
- Hong, Y.K., N. Harvey, Y.H. Noh, V. Schacht, S. Hirakawa, M. Detmar, and G. Oliver. 2002. Prox1 is a master control gene in the program specifying lymphatic endothelial cell fate. *Dev Dyn.* 225:351-357.
- Hos, D., S.L. Schlereth, F. Bock, L.M. Heindl, and C. Cursiefen. 2015. Antilymphangiogenic therapy to promote transplant survival and to reduce cancer metastasis: what can we learn from the eye? *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* 38:117-130.
- Hoshida, T., N. Isaka, J. Hagendoorn, E. di Tomaso, Y.L. Chen, B. Pytowski, D. Fukumura, T.P. Padera, and R.K. Jain. 2006. Imaging steps of lymphatic metastasis reveals that vascular endothelial growth factor-C increases metastasis by increasing delivery of cancer cells to lymph nodes: therapeutic implications. *Cancer Res.* 66:8065-8075.
- Huggenberger, R., S.S. Siddiqui, D. Brander, S. Ullmann, K. Zimmermann, M. Antsiferova, S. Werner, K. Alitalo, and M. Detmar. 2011. An important role of lymphatic vessel activation in limiting acute inflammation. *Blood*. 117:4667-4678.
- Huggenberger, R., S. Ullmann, S.T. Proulx, B. Pytowski, K. Alitalo, and M. Detmar. 2010. Stimulation of lymphangiogenesis via VEGFR-3 inhibits chronic skin inflammation. J Exp Med. 207:2255-2269.
- Huusko, J., L. Lottonen, M. Merentie, E. Gurzeler, A. Anisimov, A. Miyanohara, K. Alitalo, P. Tavi, and S. Yla-Herttuala. 2012. AAV9-mediated VEGF-B gene transfer improves systolic function in progressive left ventricular hypertrophy. *Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*. 20:2212-2221.
- Iida, K., K. Fujita, H. Hirai, H. Goto, S. Miyazaki, Y. Arai, H. Iwaki, M. Otake, S. Sassa, M. Maemura, T. Nakayama, H. Kudo, and S. Sakamoto. 1997. Preventive effects of polysaccharides extracted from human tubercle bacilli (specific substance of Maruyama) on colonic carcinogenesis in rats. *Cancer Detect Prev.* 21:476-482.
- Ikomi, F., Y. Yokoyama, N. Ogiwara, K. Sasaki, R. Mizuno, and T. Ohhashi. 2006. Recanalization of the collecting lymphatics in rabbit hind leg. *Microcirculation*. 13:365-376.
- Iqbal, J., and M.M. Hussain. 2009. Intestinal lipid absorption. *American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism.* 296:E1183-1194.
- Irrthum, A., M.J. Karkkainen, K. Devriendt, K. Alitalo, and M. Vikkula. 2000. Congenital hereditary lymphedema caused by a mutation that inactivates VEGFR3 tyrosine kinase. *Am J Hum Genet*. 67:295-301.
- Issa, A., T.X. Le, A.N. Shoushtari, J.D. Shields, and M.A. Swartz. 2009. Vascular endothelial growth factor-C and C-C chemokine receptor 7 in tumor cell-lymphatic cross-talk promote invasive phenotype. *Cancer Res.* 69:349-357.
- Jakobsson, L., K. Bentley, and H. Gerhardt. 2009. VEGFRs and Notch: a dynamic collaboration in vascular patterning. *Biochem Soc Trans*. 37:1233-1236.

- Janssen, L., L. Dupont, M. Bekhouche, A. Noel, C. Leduc, M. Voz, B. Peers, D. Cataldo, S.S. Apte, J. Dubail, and A. Colige. 2016. ADAMTS3 activity is mandatory for embryonic lymphangiogenesis and regulates placental angiogenesis. *Angiogenesis*. 19:53-65.
- Jeltsch, M., S.K. Jha, D. Tvorogov, A. Anisimov, V.M. Leppanen, T. Holopainen, R. Kivela, S. Ortega, T. Karpanen, and K. Alitalo. 2014. CCBE1 enhances lymphangiogenesis via A disintegrin and metalloprotease with thrombospondin motifs-3-mediated vascular endothelial growth factor-C activation. *Circulation*. 129:1962-1971.
- Jeltsch, M., A. Kaipainen, V. Joukov, X. Meng, M. Lakso, H. Rauvala, M. Swartz, D. Fukumura, R.K. Jain, and K. Alitalo. 1997. Hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels in VEGF-C transgenic mice. *Science*. 276:1423-1425.
- Joukov, V., K. Pajusola, A. Kaipainen, D. Chilov, I. Lahtinen, E. Kukk, O. Saksela, N. Kalkkinen, and K. Alitalo. 1996. A novel vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-C, is a ligand for the Flt4 (VEGFR-3) and KDR (VEGFR-2) receptor tyrosine kinases. *EMBO J.* 15:290-298.
- Joukov, V., T. Sorsa, V. Kumar, M. Jeltsch, L. Claesson-Welsh, Y. Cao, O. Saksela, N. Kalkkinen, and K. Alitalo. 1997. Proteolytic processing regulates receptor specificity and activity of VEGF-C. *EMBO* J. 16:3898-3911.
- Kaipainen, A., J. Korhonen, T. Mustonen, V.W.M. van Hinsbergh, G.-H. Fang, D. Dumont, M. Breitman, and K. Alitalo. 1995. Expression of the *fms*-like tyrosine kinase FLT4 gene becomes restricted to lymphatic endothelium during development. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*. 92:3566-3570.
- Kamba, T., B.Y. Tam, H. Hashizume, A. Haskell, B. Sennino, M.R. Mancuso, S.M. Norberg, S.M. O'Brien, R.B. Davis, L.C. Gowen, K.D. Anderson, G. Thurston, S. Joho, M.L. Springer, C.J. Kuo, and D.M. McDonald. 2006. VEGF-dependent plasticity of fenestrated capillaries in the normal adult microvasculature. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 290:H560-576.
- Karkkainen, M.J., R.E. Ferrell, E.C. Lawrence, M.A. Kimak, K.L. Levinson, M.A. McTigue, K. Alitalo, and D.N. Finegold. 2000. Missense mutations interfere with VEGFR-3 signalling in primary lymphoedema. *Nat. Genet.* 25:153-159.
- Karkkainen, M.J., P. Haiko, K. Sainio, J. Partanen, J. Taipale, T.V. Petrova, M. Jeltsch, D.G. Jackson, M. Talikka, H. Rauvala, C. Betsholtz, and K. Alitalo. 2004. Vascular endothelial growth factor C is required for sprouting of the first lymphatic vessels from embryonic veins. *Nat Immunol.* 5:74-80.
- Karkkainen, M.J., A. Saaristo, L. Jussila, K.A. Karila, E.C. Lawrence, K. Pajusola, H. Bueler, A. Eichmann, R. Kauppinen, M.I. Kettunen, S. Ylä-Herttuala, D.N. Finegold, R.E. Ferrell, and K. Alitalo. 2001. A model for gene therapy of human hereditary lymphedema. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*. 98:12677-12682.
- Karnezis, T., R. Shayan, C. Caesar, S. Roufail, N.C. Harris, K. Ardipradja, Y.F. Zhang, S.P. Williams, R.H. Farnsworth, M.G. Chai, T.W. Rupasinghe, D.L. Tull, M.E. Baldwin, E.K. Sloan, S.B. Fox, M.G. Achen, and S.A. Stacker. 2012. VEGF-D promotes tumor metastasis by regulating prostaglandins produced by the collecting lymphatic endothelium. *Cancer Cell*. 21:181-195.
- Karpanen, T., M. Bry, H.M. Ollila, T. Seppanen-Laakso, E. Liimatta, H. Leskinen, R. Kivela, T. Helkamaa, M. Merentie, M. Jeltsch, K. Paavonen, L.C. Andersson, E. Mervaala, I.E. Hassinen, S. Yla-Herttuala, M. Oresic, and K. Alitalo. 2008. Overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor-B in mouse heart alters cardiac lipid metabolism and induces myocardial hypertrophy. *Circ Res.* 103:1018-1026.
- Karpanen, T., C.A. Heckman, S. Keskitalo, M. Jeltsch, H. Ollila, G. Neufeld, L. Tamagnone, and K. Alitalo. 2006a. Functional interaction of VEGF-C and VEGF-D with neuropilin receptors. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 20:1462-1472.
- Karpanen, T., M. Wirzenius, T. Makinen, T. Veikkola, H.J. Haisma, M.G. Achen, S.A. Stacker, B. Pytowski, S. Yla-Herttuala, and K. Alitalo. 2006b. Lymphangiogenic growth factor responsiveness is modulated by postnatal lymphatic vessel maturation. *Am J Pathol.* 169:708-718.
- Karpinich, N.O., D.O. Kechele, S.T. Espenschied, H.H. Willcockson, Y. Fedoriw, and K.M. Caron. 2013. Adrenomedullin gene dosage correlates with tumor and lymph node lymphangiogenesis. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 27:590-600.
- Kataru, R.P., K. Jung, C. Jang, H. Yang, R.A. Schwendener, J.E. Baik, S.H. Han, K. Alitalo, and G.Y. Koh. 2009. Critical role of CD11b+ macrophages and VEGF in inflammatory lymphangiogenesis, antigen clearance, and inflammation resolution. *Blood.* 113:5650-5659.
- Kawasaki, T., T. Kitsukawa, Y. Bekku, Y. Matsuda, M. Sanbo, T. Yagi, and H. Fujisawa. 1999. A requirement for neuropilin-1 in embryonic vessel formation. *Development*. 126:4895-4902.
- Kenyon, B.M., E.E. Voest, C.C. Chen, E. Flynn, J. Folkman, and R.J. D'Amato. 1996. A model of angiogenesis in the mouse cornea. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*. 37:1625-1632.
- Kerjaschki, D., H.M. Regele, I. Moosberger, K. Nagy-Bojarski, B. Watschinger, A. Soleiman, P. Birner, S. Krieger, A. Hovorka, G. Silberhumer, P. Laakkonen, T. Petrova, B. Langer, and I. Raab. 2004. Lymphatic neoangiogenesis in human kidney transplants is associated with immunologically active lymphocytic infiltrates. J Am Soc Nephrol. 15:603-612.
- Kim, H., R.P. Kataru, and G.Y. Koh. 2014. Inflammation-associated lymphangiogenesis: a double-edged sword? J Clin Invest. 124:936-942.
- Kivela, R., M. Bry, M.R. Robciuc, M. Rasanen, M. Taavitsainen, J.M. Silvola, A. Saraste, J.J. Hulmi, A. Anisimov, M.I. Mayranpaa, J.H. Lindeman, L. Eklund, S. Hellberg, R. Hlushchuk, Z.W. Zhuang, M. Simons, V. Djonov, J. Knuuti, E. Mervaala, and K. Alitalo. 2014. VEGF-B-induced vascular

growth leads to metabolic reprogramming and ischemia resistance in the heart. *EMBO molecular medicine*. 6:307-321.

- Klotz, L., S. Norman, J.M. Vieira, M. Masters, M. Rohling, K.N. Dube, S. Bollini, F. Matsuzaki, C.A. Carr, and P.R. Riley. 2015. Cardiac lymphatics are heterogeneous in origin and respond to injury. *Nature*. 522:62-67.
- Kolodkin, A.L., D.V. Levengood, E.G. Rowe, Y.T. Tai, R.J. Giger, and D.D. Ginty. 1997. Neuropilin is a semaphorin III receptor. *Cell*. 90:753-762.
- Koltowska, K., K.L. Betterman, N.L. Harvey, and B.M. Hogan. 2013. Getting out and about: the emergence and morphogenesis of the vertebrate lymphatic vasculature. *Development*. 140:1857-1870.
- Kopfstein, L., T. Veikkola, V.G. Djonov, V. Baeriswyl, T. Schomber, K. Strittmatter, S.A. Stacker, M.G. Achen, K. Alitalo, and G. Christofori. 2007. Distinct roles of vascular endothelial growth factor-D in lymphangiogenesis and metastasis. *Am J Pathol.* 170:1348-1361.
- Korhonen, E.A., A. Lampinen, H. Giri, A. Anisimov, M. Kim, B. Allen, S. Fang, G. D'Amico, T.J. Sipila, M. Lohela, T. Strandin, A. Vaheri, S. Yla-Herttuala, G.Y. Koh, D.M. McDonald, K. Alitalo, and P. Saharinen. 2016. Tie1 controls angiopoietin function in vascular remodeling and inflammation. J Clin Invest. 126:3495-3510.
- Krueger, J., D. Liu, K. Scholz, A. Zimmer, Y. Shi, C. Klein, A. Siekmann, S. Schulte-Merker, M. Cudmore, A. Ahmed, and F. le Noble. 2011. Flt1 acts as a negative regulator of tip cell formation and branching morphogenesis in the zebrafish embryo. *Development*. 138:2111-2120.
- Kukk, E., A. Lymboussaki, Š. Taira, A. Kaipainen, M. Jeltsch, V. Joukov, and K. Alitalo. 1996. VEGF-C receptor binding and pattern of expression with VEGFR-3 suggests a role in lymphatic vascular development. Development. 122:3829-3837.
- Kwon, H.B., S. Fukuhara, K. Asakawa, K. Ando, T. Kashiwada, K. Kawakami, M. Hibi, Y.G. Kwon, K.W. Kim, K. Alitalo, and N. Mochizuki. 2013. The parallel growth of motoneuron axons with the dorsal aorta depends on Vegfc/Vegfr3 signaling in zebrafish. *Development*. 140:4081-4090.
- Laakkonen, P., M. Waltari, T. Holopainen, T. Takahashi, B. Pytowski, P. Steiner, D. Hicklin, K. Persaud, J.R. Tonra, L. Witte, and K. Alitalo. 2007. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 is involved in tumor angiogenesis and growth. *Cancer Res.* 67:593-599.
- Lahteenvuo, J.E., M.T. Lahteenvuo, A. Kivela, C. Rosenlew, A. Falkevall, J. Klar, T. Heikura, T.T. Rissanen, E. Vahakangas, P. Korpisalo, B. Enholm, P. Carmeliet, K. Alitalo, U. Eriksson, and S. Yla-Herttuala. 2009. Vascular endothelial growth factor-B induces myocardium-specific angiogenesis and arteriogenesis via vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1- and neuropilin receptor-1-dependent mechanisms. *Circulation*. 119:845-856.
- Larcher, F., R. Murillas, M. Bolontrade, C.J. Conti, and J.L. Jorcano. 1998. VEGF/VPF overexpression in skin of transgenic mice induces angiogenesis, vascular hyperpermeability and accelerated tumor development. Oncogene. 17:303-311.
- Le Bras, B., M.J. Barallobre, J. Homman-Ludiye, A. Ny, S. Wyns, T. Tammela, P. Haiko, M.J. Karkkainen, L. Yuan, M.P. Muriel, E. Chatzopoulou, C. Breant, B. Zalc, P. Carmeliet, K. Alitalo, A. Eichmann, and J.L. Thomas. 2006. VEGF-C is a trophic factor for neural progenitors in the vertebrate embryonic brain. *Nat Neurosci.* 9:340-348.
- Le Guen, L., T. Karpanen, D. Schulte, N.C. Harris, K. Koltowska, G. Roukens, N.I. Bower, A. van Impel, S.A. Stacker, M.G. Achen, S. Schulte-Merker, and B.M. Hogan. 2014. Ccbe1 regulates Vegfcmediated induction of Vegfr3 signaling during embryonic lymphangiogenesis. *Development*. 141:1239-1249.
- Lee, A.S., D.H. Kim, J.E. Lee, Y.J. Jung, K.P. Kang, S. Lee, S.K. Park, J.Y. Kwak, S.Y. Lee, S.T. Lim, M.J. Sung, S.R. Yoon, and W. Kim. 2011. Erythropoietin induces lymph node lymphangiogenesis and lymph node tumor metastasis. *Cancer Res.* 71:4506-4517.
- Lee, H.S., D. Hos, T. Blanco, F. Bock, N.J. Reyes, R. Mathew, C. Cursiefen, R. Dana, and D.R. Saban. 2015. Involvement of corneal lymphangiogenesis in a mouse model of allergic eye disease. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*. 56:3140-3148.
- Lee, J., A. Gray, J. Yuan, S.-M. Luoh, H. Avraham, and W.I. Wood. 1996. Vascular endothelial growth factor-related protein: A ligand and specific activator of the tyrosine kinase receptor Flt4. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 93:1988-1992.
- Lee, S., T.T. Chen, C.L. Barber, M.C. Jordan, J. Murdock, S. Desai, N. Ferrara, A. Nagy, K.P. Roos, and M.L. Iruela-Arispe. 2007. Autocrine VEGF signaling is required for vascular homeostasis. *Cell*. 130:691-703.
- Leung, D.W., G. Cachianes, W.-J. Kuang, D.V. Goeddel, and N. Ferrara. 1989. Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. *Science*. 246:1306-1309.
- Li, X., M. Tjwa, I. Van Hove, B. Enholm, E. Neven, K. Paavonen, M. Jeltsch, T.D. Juan, R.E. Sievers, E. Chorianopoulos, H. Wada, M. Vanwildemeersch, A. Noel, J.M. Foidart, M.L. Springer, G. von Degenfeld, M. Dewerchin, H.M. Blau, K. Alitalo, U. Eriksson, P. Carmeliet, and L. Moons. 2008. Reevaluation of the role of VEGF-B suggests a restricted role in the revascularization of the ischemic myocardium. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 28:1614-1620.
- Lim, H.Y., J.M. Rutkowski, J. Helft, S.T. Reddy, M.A. Swartz, G.J. Randolph, and V. Angeli. 2009. Hypercholesterolemic mice exhibit lymphatic vessel dysfunction and degeneration. *Am J Pathol.* 175:1328-1337.
- Lim, H.Y., C.H. Thiam, K.P. Yeo, R. Bisoendial, C.S. Hii, K.C. McGrath, K.W. Tan, A. Heather, J.S. Alexander, and V. Angeli. 2013. Lymphatic vessels are essential for the removal of cholesterol from peripheral tissues by SR-BI-mediated transport of HDL. *Cell metabolism*. 17:671-684.

- Lohela, M., M. Bry, T. Tammela, and K. Alitalo. 2009. VEGFs and receptors involved in angiogenesis versus lymphangiogenesis. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 21:154-165.
- Louveau, A., S. Da Mesquita, and J. Kipnis. 2016. Lymphatics in Neurological Disorders: A Neuro-Lympho-Vascular Component of Multiple Sclerosis and Alzheimer's Disease? *Neuron*. 91:957-973.
- Louveau, A., I. Smirnov, T.J. Keyes, J.D. Eccles, S.J. Rouhani, J.D. Peske, N.C. Derecki, D. Castle, J.W. Mandell, K.S. Lee, T.H. Harris, and J. Kipnis. 2015. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature*. 523:337-341.
- Lusis, A.J. 2000. Atherosclerosis. Nature. 407:233-241.
- Luttun, A., M. Tjwa, L. Moons, Y. Wu, A. Angelillo-Scherrer, F. Liao, J.A. Nagy, A. Hooper, J. Priller, B. De Klerck, V. Compernolle, E. Daci, P. Bohlen, M. Dewerchin, J.M. Herbert, R. Fava, P. Matthys, G. Carmeliet, D. Collen, H.F. Dvorak, D.J. Hicklin, and P. Carmeliet. 2002. Revascularization of ischemic tissues by PIGF treatment, and inhibition of tumor angiogenesis, arthritis and atherosclerosis by anti-Flt1. *Nat Med.* 8:831-840.
- Lymboussaki, A., T.A. Partanen, B. Olofsson, J. Thomas-Crusells, C.D.M. Fletcher, R.M.W. de Waal, A. Kaipainen, and K. Alitalo. 1998. Expression of the vascular endothelial growth factor C receptor VEGFR-3 in lymphatic endothelium of the skin and in vascular tumors. *Am. J. Pathol.* 153:395-403.
- Machnik, A., W. Neuhofer, J. Jantsch, A. Dahlmann, T. Tammela, K. Machura, J.K. Park, F.X. Beck, D.N. Muller, W. Derer, J. Goss, A. Ziomber, P. Dietsch, H. Wagner, N. van Rooijen, A. Kurtz, K.F. Hilgers, K. Alitalo, K.U. Eckardt, F.C. Luft, D. Kerjaschki, and J. Titze. 2009. Macrophages regulate salt-dependent volume and blood pressure by a vascular endothelial growth factor-Cdependent buffering mechanism. *Nat Med.* 15:545-552.
- Madisen, L., T.A. Zwingman, S.M. Sunkin, S.W. Oh, H.A. Zariwala, H. Gu, L.L. Ng, R.D. Palmiter, M.J. Hawrylycz, A.R. Jones, E.S. Lein, and H. Zeng. 2010. A robust and high-throughput Cre reporting and characterization system for the whole mouse brain. *Nat Neurosci.* 13:133-140.
- Maglione, D., V. Guerriero, G. Viglietto, P. Delli-Bovi, and M.G. Persico. 1991. Isolation of a human placenta cDNA coding for a protein related to the vascular permeability factor. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*. 88:9267-9271.
- Makinen, T., L. Jussila, T. Veikkola, T. Karpanen, M.I. Kettunen, K.J. Pulkkanen, R. Kauppinen, D.G. Jackson, H. Kubo, S. Nishikawa, S. Yla-Herttuala, and K. Alitalo. 2001a. Inhibition of lymphangiogenesis with resulting lymphedema in transgenic mice expressing soluble VEGF receptor-3. *Nat Med.* 7:199-205.
- Makinen, T., B. Olofsson, T. Karpanen, U. Hellman, S. Soker, M. Klagsbrun, U. Eriksson, and K. Alitalo. 1999. Differential binding of vascular endothelial growth factor B splice and proteolytic isoforms to neuropilin-1. J Biol Chem. 274:21217-21222.
- Makinen, T., T. Veikkola, S. Mustjoki, T. Karpanen, B. Catimel, E.C. Nice, L. Wise, A. Mercer, H. Kowalski, D. Kerjaschki, S.A. Stacker, M.G. Achen, and K. Alitalo. 2001b. Isolated lymphatic endothelial cells transduce growth, survival and migratory signals via the VEGF-C/D receptor VEGFR-3. *EMBO J.* 20:4762-4773.
- Mandriota, S.J., and M.S. Pepper. 1998. Regulation of angiopoietin-2 mRNA levels in bovine microvascular endothelial cells by cytokines and hypoxia. *Circ Res.* 83:852-859.
- Martel, C., W. Li, B. Fulp, A.M. Platt, E.L. Gautier, M. Westerterp, R. Bittman, A.R. Tall, S.H. Chen, M.J. Thomas, D. Kreisel, M.A. Swartz, M.G. Sorci-Thomas, and G.J. Randolph. 2013. Lymphatic vasculature mediates macrophage reverse cholesterol transport in mice. J Clin Invest. 123:1571-1579.
- Martinez-Corral, I., M.H. Ulvmar, L. Stanczuk, F. Tatin, K. Kizhatil, S.W. John, K. Alitalo, S. Ortega, and T. Makinen. 2015. Nonvenous origin of dermal lymphatic vasculature. *Circ Res.* 116:1649-1654.
- Masson-Gadais, B., F. Houle, J. Laferriere, and J. Huot. 2003. Integrin alphavbeta3, requirement for VEGFR2-mediated activation of SAPK2/p38 and for Hsp90-dependent phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase in endothelial cells activated by VEGF. *Cell stress & chaperones*. 8:37-52.
- Matsumoto, T., and L. Claesson-Welsh. 2001. VEGF receptor signal transduction. *Sci STKE*. 2001:re21. Matsumura, K., M. Hirashima, M. Ogawa, H. Kubo, H. Hisatsune, N. Kondo, S. Nishikawa, T. Chiba, and
- S. Nishikawa. 2003. Modulation of VEGFR-2-mediated endothelial-cell activity by VEGF-C/VEGFR-3. *Blood*. 101:1367-1374.
- Matthews, W., C.T. Jordan, M. Gavin, N.A. Jenkins, N.G. Copeland, and I.R. Lemischka. 1991. A receptor tyrosine kinase cDNA isolated from a population of enriched primitive hematopoetic cells and exhibiting close genetic linkage to c-kit. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA. 88:9026-9030.
- McColl, B.K., M.E. Baldwin, S. Roufail, C. Freeman, R.L. Moritz, R.J. Simpson, K. Alitalo, S.A. Stacker, and M.G. Achen. 2003. Plasmin activates the lymphangiogenic growth factors VEGF-C and VEGF-D. J Exp Med. 198:863-868.
- McColl, B.K., K. Paavonen, T. Karnezis, N.C. Harris, N. Davydova, J. Rothacker, E.C. Nice, K.W. Harder, S. Roufail, M.L. Hibbs, P.A. Rogers, K. Alitalo, S.A. Stacker, and M.G. Achen. 2007. Proprotein convertases promote processing of VEGF-D, a critical step for binding the angiogenic receptor VEGFR-2. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 21:1088-1098.
- Medvinsky, A., S. Rybtsov, and S. Taoudi. 2011. Embryonic origin of the adult hematopoietic system: advances and questions. *Development*. 138:1017-1031.

- Mellor, R.H., C.E. Hubert, A.W. Stanton, N. Tate, V. Akhras, A. Smith, K.G. Burnand, S. Jeffery, T. Makinen, J.R. Levick, and P.S. Mortimer. 2010. Lymphatic dysfunction, not aplasia, underlies Milroy disease. *Microcirculation*. 17:281-296.
- Midy, V., and J. Plouet. 1994. Vasculotropin/vascular endothelial growth factor induces differentiation in cultured osteoblasts. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 199:380-386.
- Migdal, M., B. Huppertz, S. Tessler, A. Comforti, M. Shibuya, R. Reich, H. Baumann, and G. Neufeld. 1998. Neuropilin-1 is a placenta growth factor-2 receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273:22272-22278.
- Milasan, A., N. Tessandier, S. Tan, A. Brisson, E. Boilard, and C. Martel. 2016. Extracellular vesicles are present in mouse lymph and their level differs in atherosclerosis. J Extracell Vesicles. 5:31427.
- Millauer, B., S. Wizigmann-Voos, H. Schnürch, R. Martinez, N.P. Moller, W. Risau, and A. Ullrich. 1993. High affinity VEGF binding and developmental expression suggest Flk-1 as a major regulator of vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. *Cell*. 72:835-846.
- Miteva, D.O., J.M. Rutkowski, J.B. Dixon, W. Kilarski, J.D. Shields, and M.A. Swartz. 2010. Transmural flow modulates cell and fluid transport functions of lymphatic endothelium. *Circ Res.* 106:920-931.
- Moulton, K.S. 2006. Angiogenesis in atherosclerosis: gathering evidence beyond speculation. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* 17:548-555.
- Nagy, J.A., E. Vasile, D. Feng, C. Sundberg, L.F. Brown, M.J. Detmar, J.A. Lawitts, L. Benjamin, X. Tan, E.J. Manseau, A.M. Dvorak, and H.F. Dvorak. 2002. Vascular Permeability Factor/Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Induces Lymphangiogenesis as well as Angiogenesis. J Exp Med. 196:1497-1506.
- Nash, A.D., M. Baca, C. Wright, and P.D. Scotney. 2006. The biology of vascular endothelial growth factor-B (VEGF-B). *Pulmonary pharmacology & therapeutics*. 19:61-69.
- Nilsson, I., F. Bahram, X. Li, L. Gualandi, S. Koch, M. Jarvius, O. Soderberg, A. Anisimov, I. Kholova, B. Pytowski, M. Baldwin, S. Yla-Herttuala, K. Alitalo, J. Kreuger, and L. Claesson-Welsh. 2010. VEGF receptor 2/-3 heterodimers detected in situ by proximity ligation on angiogenic sprouts. *EMBO J.* 29:1377-1388.
- Norrmen, C., K.I. Ivanov, J. Cheng, N. Zangger, M. Delorenzi, M. Jaquet, N. Miura, P. Puolakkainen, V. Horsley, J. Hu, H.G. Augustin, S. Yla-Herttuala, K. Alitalo, and T.V. Petrova. 2009. FOXC2 controls formation and maturation of lymphatic collecting vessels through cooperation with NFATc1. J Cell Biol. 185:439-457.
- Nykanen, A.I., H. Sandelin, R. Krebs, M.A. Keranen, R. Tuuminen, T. Karpanen, Y. Wu, B. Pytowski, P.K. Koskinen, S. Yla-Herttuala, K. Alitalo, and K.B. Lemstrom. 2010. Targeting lymphatic vessel activation and CCL21 production by vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 inhibition has novel immunomodulatory and antiarteriosclerotic effects in cardiac allografts. *Circulation*. 121:1413-1422.
- Odorisio, T., C. Schietroma, M.L. Zaccaria, F. Cianfarani, C. Tiveron, L. Tatangelo, C.M. Failla, and G. Zambruno. 2002. Mice overexpressing placenta growth factor exhibit increased vascularization and vessel permeability. *J Cell Sci.* 115:2559-2567.
- Olofsson, B., K. Pajusola, A. Kaipainen, G. von Euler, V. Joukov, O. Saksela, A. Orpana, R.F. Pettersson, K. Alitalo, and U. Eriksson. 1996. Vascular endothelial growth factor B, a novel growth factor for endothelial cells. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*. 93:2576-2581.
- Orlandini, M., L. Marconcini, R. Ferruzzi, and S. Oliviero. 1996. Identification of a c-fos-induced gene that is related to the platelet-derived growth factor/vascular endothelial growth factor family. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*. 93:11675-11680.
- Oura, H., J. Bertoncini, P. Velasco, L.F. Brown, P. Carmeliet, and M. Detmar. 2003. A critical role of placental growth factor in the induction of inflammation and edema formation. *Blood*. 101:560-567.
- Pajusola, K., O. Aprelikova, J. Korhonen, A. Kaipainen, L. Pertovaara, R. Alitalo, and K. Alitalo. 1992. FLT4 receptor tyrosine kinase contains seven immunoglobulin-like loops and is expressed in multiple human tissues and cell lines. *Cancer Res.* 52:5738-5743.
- Pajusola, K., O. Aprelikova, G. Pelicci, H. Weich, L. Claesson-Welsh, and K. Alitalo. 1994. Signalling properties of FLT4, a proteolytically processed receptor tyrosine kinase related to two VEGF receptors. Oncogene. 9:3545-3555.
- Palis, J. 2014. Primitive and definitive erythropoiesis in mammals. Front Physiol. 5:3.
- Park, D.Y., J. Lee, I. Park, D. Choi, S. Lee, S. Song, Y. Hwang, K.Y. Hong, Y. Nakaoka, T. Makinen, P. Kim, K. Alitalo, Y.K. Hong, and G.Y. Koh. 2014. Lymphatic regulator PROX1 determines Schlemm's canal integrity and identity. *J Clin Invest*. 124:3960-3974.
- Park, J.E., H.H. Chen, J. Winer, K.A. Houck, and N. Ferrara. 1994. Placenta growth factor. Potentiation of vascular endothelial growth factor bioactivity, *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and high affinity binding to Flt-1 but not to Flk-1/KDR. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269:25646-25654.
- Partanen, J., E. Armstrong, T.P. Mäkelä, J. Korhonen, M. Sandberg, R. Renkonen, S. Knuutila, K. Huebner, and K. Alitalo. 1992. A novel endothelial cell surface receptor tyrosine kinase with extracellular epidermal growth factor homology domains. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12:1698-1707.
- Partanen, T.A., J. Arola, A. Saaristo, L. Jussila, A. Ora, M. Miettinen, S.A. Stacker, M.G. Achen, and K. Alitalo. 2000. VEGF-C and VEGF-D expression in neuroendocrine cells and their receptor, VEGFR-3, in fenestrated blood vessels in human tissues. *FASEB J*. 14:2087-2096.
- Patan, S. 1998. TIE1 and TIE2 receptor tyrosine kinases inversely regulate embryonic angiogenesis by the mechanism of intussusceptive microvascular growth. *Microvascular research*. 56:1-21.
- Persaud, K., J.C. Tille, M. Liu, Z. Zhu, X. Jimenez, D.S. Pereira, H.Q. Miao, L.A. Brennan, L. Witte, M.S. Pepper, and B. Pytowski. 2004. Involvement of the VEGF receptor 3 in tubular morphogenesis

demonstrated with a human anti-human VEGFR-3 monoclonal antibody that antagonizes receptor activation by VEGF-C. J Cell Sci. 117:2745-2756.

- Petrek, J.A., and M.C. Heelan. 1998. Incidence of breast carcinoma-related lymphedema. *Cancer*. 83:2776-2781.
- Petrova, T.V., T. Karpanen, C. Norrmen, R. Mellor, T. Tamakoshi, D. Finegold, R. Ferrell, D. Kerjaschki, P. Mortimer, S. Yla-Herttuala, N. Miura, and K. Alitalo. 2004. Defective valves and abnormal mural cell recruitment underlie lymphatic vascular failure in lymphedema distichiasis. *Nat Med.* 10:974-981.
- Petrova, T.V., T. Makinen, T.P. Makela, J. Saarela, I. Virtanen, R.E. Ferrell, D.N. Finegold, D. Kerjaschki, S. Yla-Herttuala, and K. Alitalo. 2002. Lymphatic endothelial reprogramming of vascular endothelial cells by the Prox-1 homeobox transcription factor. *EMBO Journal*. 21:4593-4599.
- Pettersson, A., J.A. Nagy, L.F. Brown, C. Sundberg, E. Morgan, S. Jungles, R. Carter, J.E. Krieger, E.J. Manseau, V.S. Harvey, I.A. Eckelhoefer, D. Feng, A.M. Dvorak, R.C. Mulligan, and H.F. Dvorak. 2000. Heterogeneity of the angiogenic response induced in different normal adult tissues by vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor. *Lab Invest.* 80:99-115.
- Presta, M., P. Dell'Era, S. Mitola, E. Moroni, R. Ronca, and M. Rusnati. 2005. Fibroblast growth factor/fibroblast growth factor receptor system in angiogenesis. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 16:159-178.
- Prewett, M., J. Huber, Y. Li, A. Santiago, W. O'Connor, K. King, J. Overholser, A. Hooper, B. Pytowski, L. Witte, P. Bohlen, and D.J. Hicklin. 1999. Antivascular endothelial growth factor receptor (fetal liver kinase 1) monoclonal antibody inhibits tumor angiogenesis and growth of several mouse and human tumors. *Cancer Res.* 59:5209-5218.
- Puri, M.C., J. Rossant, K. Alitalo, A. Bernstein, and J. Partanen. 1995. The receptor tyrosine kinase TIE is required for integrity and survival of vascular endothelial cells. *EMBO J.* 14:5884-5891.
- Pytowski, B., J. Goldman, K. Persaud, Y. Wu, L. Witte, D.J. Hicklin, M. Skobe, K.C. Boardman, and M.A. Swartz. 2005. Complete and specific inhibition of adult lymphatic regeneration by a novel VEGFR-3 neutralizing antibody. J Natl Cancer Inst. 97:14-21.
- Quinn, T., K. Peters, C. DeVries, N. Ferrara, and L. Williams. 1993. Fetal liver kinase 1 is a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor and is selectively expressed in vascular endothelium. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA*. 90:7533-7537.
- Randolph, G.J., V. Angeli, and M.A. Swartz. 2005. Dendritic-cell trafficking to lymph nodes through lymphatic vessels. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 5:617-628.
- Randolph, G.J., and N.E. Miller. 2014. Lymphatic transport of high-density lipoproteins and chylomicrons. *J Clin Invest*. 124:929-935.
- Risau, W., and I. Flamme. 1995. Vasculogenesis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 11:73-91.
- Risebro, C.A., R.G. Searles, A.A. Melville, E. Ehler, N. Jina, S. Shah, J. Pallas, M. Hubank, M. Dillard, N.L. Harvey, R.J. Schwartz, K.R. Chien, G. Oliver, and P.R. Riley. 2009. Prox1 maintains muscle structure and growth in the developing heart. *Development*. 136:495-505.
- Robciuc, M.R., R. Kivela, I.M. Williams, J.F. de Boer, T.H. van Dijk, H. Elamaa, F. Tigistu-Sahle, D. Molotkov, V.M. Leppanen, R. Kakela, L. Eklund, D.H. Wasserman, A.K. Groen, and K. Alitalo. 2016. VEGFB/VEGFR1-Induced Expansion of Adipose Vasculature Counteracts Obesity and Related Metabolic Complications. *Cell metabolism*. 23:712-724.
- Rodriguez-Niedenfuhr, M., M. Papoutsi, B. Christ, K.H. Nicolaides, C.S. von Kaisenberg, S.I. Tomarev, and J. Wilting. 2001. Prox1 is a marker of ectodermal placodes, endodermal compartments, lymphatic endothelium and lymphangioblasts. *Anatomy and embryology*. 204:399-406.
- Ruhrberg, C., H. Gerhardt, M. Golding, R. Watson, S. Ioannidou, H. Fujisawa, C. Betsholtz, and D.T. Shima. 2002. Spatially restricted patterning cues provided by heparin-binding VEGF-A control blood vessel branching morphogenesis. *Genes Dev.* 16:2684-2698.
- Rutanen, J., T.T. Rissanen, J.E. Markkanen, M. Gruchala, P. Silvennoinen, A. Kivela, A. Hedman, M. Hedman, T. Heikura, M.R. Orden, S.A. Stacker, M.G. Achen, J. Hartikainen, and S. Yla-Herttuala. 2004. Adenoviral catheter-mediated intramyocardial gene transfer using the mature form of vascular endothelial growth factor-D induces transmural angiogenesis in porcine heart. *Circulation*. 109:1029-1035.
- Rutkowski, J.M., J.E. Ihm, S.T. Lee, W.W. Kilarski, V.I. Greenwood, M.C. Pasquier, A. Quazzola, D. Trono, J.A. Hubbell, and M.A. Swartz. 2013. VEGFR-3 neutralization inhibits ovarian lymphangiogenesis, follicle maturation, and murine pregnancy. *Am J Pathol.* 183:1596-1607.
- Sabine, A., E. Bovay, C.S. Demir, W. Kimura, M. Jaquet, Y. Agalarov, N. Zangger, J.P. Scallan, W. Graber, E. Gulpinar, B.R. Kwak, T. Makinen, I. Martinez-Corral, S. Ortega, M. Delorenzi, F. Kiefer, M.J. Davis, V. Djonov, N. Miura, and T.V. Petrova. 2015. FOXC2 and fluid shear stress stabilize postnatal lymphatic vasculature. J Clin Invest. 125:3861-3877.
- Saharinen, P., L. Eklund, J. Miettinen, R. Wirkkala, A. Anisimov, M. Winderlich, A. Nottebaum, D. Vestweber, U. Deutsch, G.Y. Koh, B.R. Olsen, and K. Alitalo. 2008. Angiopoietins assemble distinct Tie2 signalling complexes in endothelial cell-cell and cell-matrix contacts. *Nat Cell Biol.* 10:527-537.
- Saharinen, P., K. Kerkela, N. Ekman, M. Marron, N. Brindle, G.M. Lee, H. Augustin, G.Y. Koh, and K. Alitalo. 2005. Multiple angiopoietin recombinant proteins activate the Tie1 receptor tyrosine kinase and promote its interaction with Tie2. *J Cell Biol.* 169:239-243.
- Sato, T.N., Y. Tozawa, U. Deutsch, K. Wolburg-Buchholz, Y. Fujiwara, M. Gendron-Maguire, T. Gridley, H. Wolburg, W. Risau, and Y. Qin. 1995. Distinct roles of the receptor tyrosine kinases Tie-1 and Tie-2 in blood vessel formation. *Nature*. 376:70-74.

- Senger, D.R., S.J. Galli, A.M. Dvorak, C.A. Perruzzi, V.S. Harvey, and H.F. Dvorak. 1983. Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. *Science*. 219:983-985.
- Shalaby, F., J. Rossant, T.P. Yamaguchi, M. Gertsenstein, X.F. Wu, M.L. Breitman, and A.C. Schuh. 1995. Failure of blood-island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. *Nature*. 376:62-66.
- Shenoy, R.K. 2008. Clinical and pathological aspects of filarial lymphedema and its management. *Korean J Parasitol.* 46:119-125.
- Shibuya, M. 2001. Structure and dual function of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 (Flt-1). *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 33:409-420.
- Shibuya, M., S. Yamaguchi, A. Yamane, T. Ikeda, A. Tojo, H. Matsushime, and M. Sato. 1990. Nucleotide sequence and expression of a novel human receptor-type tyrosine kinase gene (flt) closely related to the fms family. *Oncogene*. 5:519-524.
- Siegfried, G., A. Basak, J.A. Cromlish, S. Benjannet, J. Marcinkiewicz, M. Chretien, N.G. Seidah, and A.M. Khatib. 2003. The secretory proprotein convertases furin, PC5, and PC7 activate VEGF-C to induce tumorigenesis. J Clin Invest. 111:1723-1732.
- Silva, R., G. D'Amico, K.M. Hodivala-Dilke, and L.E. Reynolds. 2008. Integrins: the keys to unlocking angiogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 28:1703-1713.
- Skobe, M., T. Hawighorst, D.G. Jackson, R. Prevo, L. Janes, P. Velasco, L. Riccardi, K. Alitalo, K. Claffey, and M. Detmar. 2001a. Induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis by VEGF-C promotes breast cancer metastasis. *Nat. Med.* 7:192-198.
- Sleeman, J.P., and W. Thiele. 2009. Tumor metastasis and the lymphatic vasculature. *Int J Cancer*. 125:2747-2756.
- Soker, S., H.Q. Miao, M. Nomi, S. Takashima, and M. Klagsbrun. 2002. VEGF165 mediates formation of complexes containing VEGFR-2 and neuropilin-1 that enhance VEGF165-receptor binding. J Cell Biochem. 85:357-368.
- Soker, S., S. Takashima, H.Q. Miao, G. Neufeld, and M. Klagsbrun. 1998. Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoform-specific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cell*. 92:735-745.
- Song, M., H. Yang, S. Yao, F. Ma, Z. Li, Y. Deng, H. Deng, Q. Zhou, S. Lin, and Y. Wei. 2007. A critical role of vascular endothelial growth factor D in zebrafish embryonic vasculogenesis and angiogenesis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 357:924-930.
- Soriano, P. 1999. Generalized lacZ expression with the ROSA26 Cre reporter strain. Nat Genet. 21:70-71.
- Stacker, S.A., S.P. Williams, T. Karnezis, R. Shayan, S.B. Fox, and M.G. Achen. 2014.
- Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic vessel remodelling in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 14:159-172. Stanczuk, L., I. Martinez-Corral, M.H. Ulvmar, Y. Zhang, B. Lavina, M. Fruttiger, R.H. Adams, D. Saur, C. Betsholtz, S. Ortega, K. Alitalo, M. Graupera, and T. Makinen. 2015. cKit Lineage Hemogenic Endothelium-Derived Cells Contribute to Mesenteric Lymphatic Vessels. *Cell Rep.*
- Su, J.L., J.Y. Shih, M.L. Yen, Y.M. Jeng, C.C. Chang, C.Y. Hsieh, L.H. Wei, P.C. Yang, and M.L. Kuo. 2004. Cyclooxygenase-2 induces EP1- and HER-2/Neu-dependent vascular endothelial growth factor-C up-regulation: a novel mechanism of lymphangiogenesis in lung adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 64:554-564.
- Suri, C., P.F. Jones, S. Patan, S. Bartunkova, P.C. Maisonpierre, S. Davis, T.N. Sato, and G.D. Yancopoulos. 1996. Requisite role of Angiopoietin-1, a ligand for the TIE2 receptor, during embryonic angiogenesis. *Cell*. 87:1161-1169.
- Sweet, D.T., J.M. Jimenez, J. Chang, P.R. Hess, P. Mericko-Ishizuka, J. Fu, L. Xia, P.F. Davies, and M.L. Kahn. 2015. Lymph flow regulates collecting lymphatic vessel maturation in vivo. J Clin Invest. 125:2995-3007.
- Taher, M., S. Nakao, S. Zandi, M.I. Melhorn, K.C. Hayes, and A. Hafezi-Moghadam. 2016. Phenotypic transformation of intimal and adventitial lymphatics in atherosclerosis: a regulatory role for soluble VEGF receptor 2. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 30:2490-2499.
- Takashima, S., M. Kitakaze, M. Asakura, H. Asanuma, S. Sanada, F. Tashiro, H. Niwa, J. Miyazaki Ji, S. Hirota, Y. Kitamura, T. Kitsukawa, H. Fujisawa, M. Klagsbrun, and M. Hori. 2002. Targeting of both mouse neuropilin-1 and neuropilin-2 genes severely impairs developmental yolk sac and embryonic angiogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 99:3657-3662.
- Tammela, T., G. Zarkada, E. Wallgard, A. Murtomaki, S. Suchting, M. Wirzenius, M. Waltari, M. Hellstrom, T. Schomber, R. Peltonen, C. Freitas, A. Duarte, H. Isoniemi, P. Laakkonen, G. Christofori, S. Yla-Herttuala, M. Shibuya, B. Pytowski, A. Eichmann, C. Betsholtz, and K. Alitalo. 2008. Blocking VEGFR-3 suppresses angiogenic sprouting and vascular network formation. *Nature*. 454:656-660.
- Tanaka, K., S. Yamaguchi, A. Sawano, and M. Shibuya. 1997. Characterization of the extracellular domain in vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 (Flt-1 tyrosine kinase). Jpn J Cancer Res. 88:867-876.
- Terman, B.I., M.E. Carrion, E. Kovacs, B.A. Rasmussen, R.L. Eddy, and T.B. Shows. 1991. Identification of a new endothelial cell growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase. *Oncogene*. 6:1677-1683.
- Thiele, W., J. Krishnan, M. Rothley, D. Weih, D. Plaumann, V. Kuch, L. Quagliata, H.A. Weich, and J.P. Sleeman. 2012. VEGFR-3 is expressed on megakaryocyte precursors in the murine bone marrow and plays a regulatory role in megakaryopoiesis. *Blood*. 120:1899-1907.

- Thomas, S.N., J.M. Rutkowski, M. Pasquier, E.L. Kuan, K. Alitalo, G.J. Randolph, and M.A. Swartz. 2012. Impaired humoral immunity and tolerance in K14-VEGFR-3-Ig mice that lack dermal lymphatic drainage. *J Immunol.* 189:2181-2190.
- Timoshenko, A.V., C. Chakraborty, G.F. Wagner, and P.K. Lala. 2006. COX-2-mediated stimulation of the lymphangiogenic factor VEGF-C in human breast cancer. *British journal of cancer*. 94:1154-1163.
- Tober, J., A. Koniski, K.E. McGrath, R. Vemishetti, R. Emerson, K.K. de Mesy-Bentley, R. Waugh, and J. Palis. 2007. The megakaryocyte lineage originates from hemangioblast precursors and is an integral component both of primitive and of definitive hematopoiesis. *Blood*. 109:1433-1441.
- Tuttle, T.M. 2004. Technical advances in sentinel lymph node biopsy for breast cancer. *The American surgeon*. 70:407-413.
- Udan, R.S., J.C. Culver, and M.E. Dickinson. 2013. Understanding vascular development. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol. 2:327-346.
- Ulyanova, T., Y. Jiang, S. Padilla, B. Nakamoto, and T. Papayannopoulou. 2011. Combinatorial and distinct roles of alpha(5) and alpha(4) integrins in stress erythropoiesis in mice. *Blood*. 117:975-985.
- Valtola, R., P. Salven, P. Heikkila, J. Taipale, H. Joensuu, M. Rehn, T. Pihlajaniemi, H. Weich, R. deWaal, and K. Alitalo. 1999. VEGFR-3 and its ligand VEGF-C are associated with angiogenesis in breast cancer. Am. J. Pathol. 154:1381-1390.
- Van den Eynden, G.G., I. Van der Auwera, S.J. Van Laere, X.B. Trinh, C.G. Colpaert, P. van Dam, L.Y. Dirix, P.B. Vermeulen, and E.A. Van Marck. 2007. Comparison of molecular determinants of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in lymph node metastases and in primary tumours of patients with breast cancer. J Pathol. 213:56-64.
- Van Kruiningen, H.J., and J.F. Colombel. 2008. The forgotten role of lymphangitis in Crohn's disease. *Gut.* 57:1-4.
- Veikkola, T., L. Jussila, T. Makinen, T. Karpanen, M. Jeltsch, T.V. Petrova, H. Kubo, G. Thurston, D.M. McDonald, M.G. Achen, S.A. Stacker, and K. Alitalo. 2001. Signalling via vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 is sufficient for lymphangiogenesis in transgenic mice. *Embo J.* 20:1223-1231.
- Veniant, M.M., C.H. Zlot, R.L. Walzem, V. Pierotti, R. Driscoll, D. Dichek, J. Herz, and S.G. Young. 1998. Lipoprotein clearance mechanisms in LDL receptor-deficient "Apo-B48-only" and "Apo-B100only" mice. J Clin Invest. 102:1559-1568.
- Ventura, A., D.G. Kirsch, M.E. McLaughlin, D.A. Tuveson, J. Grimm, L. Lintault, J. Newman, E.E. Reczek, R. Weissleder, and T. Jacks. 2007. Restoration of p53 function leads to tumour regression in vivo. *Nature*. 445:661-665.
- Wang, J.F., X.F. Zhang, and J.E. Groopman. 2001. Stimulation of beta 1 integrin induces tyrosine phosphorylation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 and modulates cell migration. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 276:41950-41957.
- Weijzen, S., M.P. Velders, A.G. Elmishad, P.E. Bacon, J.R. Panella, B.J. Nickoloff, L. Miele, and W.M. Kast. 2002. The Notch ligand Jagged-1 is able to induce maturation of monocyte-derived human dendritic cells. J Immunol. 169:4273-4278.
- Welsh, J.D., M.L. Kahn, and D.T. Sweet. 2016. Lymphovenous hemostasis and the role of platelets in regulating lymphatic flow and lymphatic vessel maturation. *Blood.* 128:1169-1173.
- Welti, J., S. Loges, S. Dimmeler, and P. Carmeliet. 2013. Recent molecular discoveries in angiogenesis and antiangiogenic therapies in cancer. *J Clin Invest*. 123:3190-3200.
- Whitaker, G.B., B.J. Limberg, and J.S. Rosenbaum. 2001. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 and neuropilin-1 form a receptor complex that is responsible for the differential signaling potency of VEGF(165) and VEGF(121). J. Biol. Chem. 276:25520-25531.
- Wigle, J.T., N. Harvey, M. Detmar, I. Lagutina, G. Grosveld, M.D. Gunn, D.G. Jackson, and G. Oliver. 2002. An essential role for Prox1 in the induction of the lymphatic endothelial cell phenotype. *Embo J.* 21:1505-1513.
- Wigle, J.T., and G. Oliver. 1999. Prox1 function is required for the development of the murine lymphatic system. *Cell*. 98:769-778.
- Wiig, H., A. Schroder, W. Neuhofer, J. Jantsch, C. Kopp, T.V. Karlsen, M. Boschmann, J. Goss, M. Bry, N. Rakova, A. Dahlmann, S. Brenner, O. Tenstad, H. Nurmi, E. Mervaala, H. Wagner, F.X. Beck, D.N. Muller, D. Kerjaschki, F.C. Luft, D.G. Harrison, K. Alitalo, and J. Titze. 2013. Immune cells control skin lymphatic electrolyte homeostasis and blood pressure. J Clin Invest. 123:2803-2815.
- Wiig, H., and M.A. Swartz. 2012. Interstitial fluid and lymph formation and transport: physiological regulation and roles in inflammation and cancer. *Physiol Rev.* 92:1005-1060.
- Wiktor-Jedrzejczak, W., M. Siekierzynski, E. Rychowiecka, B. Bukowska, and C. Czarnecki. 1982. Changes in peripheral blood composition following single and repeated courses of intermittent cancer chemotherapy. *Medecine interne*. 20:289-294.
- Wirzenius, M., T. Tammela, M. Uutela, Y. He, T. Odorisio, G. Zambruno, J.A. Nagy, H.F. Dvorak, S. Yla-Herttuala, M. Shibuya, and K. Alitalo. 2007. Distinct vascular endothelial growth factor signals for lymphatic vessel enlargement and sprouting J Exp Med:1431-1440.
- Yang, X., and C.L. Cepko. 1996. Flk-1, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), is expressed by retinal progenitor cells. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 16:6089-6099.
- Yang, Y., and G. Oliver. 2014. Development of the mammalian lymphatic vasculature. *J Clin Invest.* 124:888-897.

- Yuan, L., D. Moyon, L. Pardanaud, C. Breant, M.J. Karkkainen, K. Alitalo, and A. Eichmann. 2002. Abnormal lymphatic vessel development in neuropilin 2 mutant mice. *Development*. 129:4797-4806.
- Zachary, I. 2005. Neuroprotective role of vascular endothelial growth factor: signalling mechanisms, biological function, and therapeutic potential. *Neuro-Signals*. 14:207-221.
- Zarkada, G., K. Heinolainen, T. Makinen, Y. Kubota, and K. Alitalo. 2015. VEGFR3 does not sustain retinal angiogenesis without VEGFR2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 112:761-766.
- Zhang, M.Z., B. Yao, Y. Wang, S. Yang, S. Wang, X. Fan, and R.C. Harris. 2015. Inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 in hematopoietic cells results in salt-sensitive hypertension. *J Clin Invest*. 125:4281-4294.
- Zhang, X., J.E. Groopman, and J.F. Wang. 2005. Extracellular matrix regulates endothelial functions through interaction of VEGFR-3 and integrin alpha5beta1. *J Cell Physiol*. 202:205-214.
- Zheng, L.F., Y.J. Li, H. Wang, J.L. Zhao, X.F. Wang, Y.S. Hu, and G.X. Zhang. 2011a. Combination of vascular endothelial growth factor antisense oligonucleotide therapy and radiotherapy increases the curative effects against maxillofacial VX2 tumors in rabbits. *European journal of radiology*. 78:272-276.
- Zheng, W., H. Nurmi, S. Appak, A. Sabine, E. Bovay, E.A. Korhonen, F. Orsenigo, M. Lohela, G. D'Amico, T. Holopainen, C.C. Leow, E. Dejana, T.V. Petrova, H.G. Augustin, and K. Alitalo. 2014. Angiopoietin 2 regulates the transformation and integrity of lymphatic endothelial cell junctions. *Genes Dev.* 28:1592-1603.
- Zheng, W., T. Tammela, M. Yamamoto, A. Anisimov, T. Holopainen, S. Kaijalainen, T. Karpanen, K. Lehti, S. Yla-Herttuala, and K. Alitalo. 2011b. Notch restricts lymphatic vessel sprouting induced by vascular endothelial growth factor. *Blood*. 118:1154-1162.
- Ziegler, B.L., M. Valtieri, G.A. Porada, R. De Maria, R. Muller, B. Masella, M. Gabbianelli, I. Casella, E. Pelosi, T. Bock, E.D. Zanjani, and C. Peschle. 1999. KDR receptor: a key marker defining hematopoietic stem cells. *Science*. 285:1553-1558.
- Zou, Z., D.R. Enis, H. Bui, E. Khandros, V. Kumar, Z. Jakus, C. Thom, Y. Yang, V. Dhillon, M. Chen, M. Lu, M.J. Weiss, and M.L. Kahn. 2013. The secreted lymphangiogenic factor CCBE1 is essential for fetal liver erythropoiesis. *Blood*. 121:3228-3236.